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.. but first a word from our editor

As we complete our fifth year of publication, I am very proud
of our journal, which has now published a total of 1,268 pages ~
including 616 pages of vital records extracts, which contain over
30,000 events and the names of nearly 150,000 persons. An index
of all articles in these five volumes appears on the last two pages
of this issue.

A focus of several articles in the front section of this issue is
the town of Opatow (“Apt”, in Yiddish). We present some diverse
articles, translated from Hebrew, Yiddish, and Polish; and an
English-language memoir. We begin with a translation of the
Opatéw entry from Yad Vashem’s Hebrew-language Pinkas
HaKehillot, “Encyclopaedia of Jewish Communities”. We again
thank Yad Vashem for granting permission to translate and publish
these excerpts. We have excerpts from the Apt Yizkor Book,
translated from the Yiddish. Other items about Opatéw are parts
of the article from the 19th-century Stownik Geograficzny
[Geographical Dictionary); a transcription of the 1929 Polish
Business Directory entries for Opatéw; and excerpts from a
forthcoming book of memories of Opatéw and Iiza,

Other towns that start with “O” are also featured in this issue:
Ozaréw and Opoczno. The Jewish cemetery of Ozardw is being
restored; and we have birth extracts from Opoczno.

Also in this issue is an extensive research analysis of two
families from Slomniki by Shabsa Lis, and reports on new JRI-
Poland projects for our area.

The extracts of Jewish vital records from LDS microfilms in
this issue include the marriage records of Ksigz Wielki, covering
1847-1865, extracted by Shabsa Lis. These records also include
the towns of Stomniki and Miechéw. We also complete the
microfilmed records of Chmielnik, with David Price’s extracts of
the death records for 1876-1884; and extracts for a “new” town —
Opoczno — the 1848-51 births, extracted by Debra J. Kay.

I’m very glad to report progress with JRI’s “Polish State
Archives” project — Jewish Records Indexing-Poland’s project to
obtain indexes of non-microfiimed Jewish vital records of the late
19th century. We now have Archive Coordinators for several of
the archives holding the Jewish vital records for towns in Kielce
and Radom gubernias. A report by Piiczow Archives coordinator
Susan Javinsky appears on page 38. The Sandomierz Archives
also now has a coordinator, and her report will appear in the next
issue. Please participate in this important endeavor.

Don’t forget to renew your subscription for 2002, using the
enclosed subscription form. Because of the huge increase in
postal rates earlier this year, we have had to raise the subscription
rate for Canada to US$30. For other countries, the rate is for
surface mail and we are no longer offering an airmail rate.

— Warren Blatt
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~ Opatow
from Pinkas HaKehillot, Polen, Volume VII (Jerusalem: Yad Vashem, 1999), pages 58-64

By Shmuel Levin and Rachel Grossbaum-Pasternak
Translated from the Hebrew by Jerry Tepperman

Opatow JIONOIN
In Yiddish: VAN, NOIN (Apt, Apta)
Opatow district, Kielce province

Total Jewish
Year Population Population
1663 936 -
1827 2,723 1,377
1857 3,471 2,279
1897 6,603 4,138
1910 8,107 5,193
1921 8,827 5,462

Opatdw is an ancient Polish town located near the
Wista River in an area filled with forests and
lakes. In the 12th century, it served as the
headquarters of the regional governor, the Kastlin,
and of the local Catholic Bishop. In the year
1237, Opatéw was awarded privileges, which
secured the rights of it citizens, and by the year
1361 it received the status of a City, along with
the associated broad rights and powers. In the
year 1514, prince Krzysztof Szydlowiecki
acquired ownership of the city. He restored the
city; surrounded it with a wall; built a villa within
it and a structure to house the government offices;
and improved the water supply to the citizens of
the city. Citizens of Opatow were able to boast of
two market days every week and two annual
major fairs.

At its inception, Opatéw was a center of
commerce in lumber products, as a result of its
proximity to local forests and its location at the
crossroads of two main highways. Quantities of
lumber were transported from Opatéw to Gdansk
(Danzig) by river and by land. At the end of the
16th century a new road was paved that connected
Opatow with many other cities in the area. From
that time on, Opatow's importance as a center of
trade for the entire area grew significantly. In the
17th century, there were approximately 200
tradesmen in the city.

Unfortunately, the Swedish army that invaded the
area in the middle of the 17th century wreaked
havoc and destruction in the city. Many houses
were burned to the ground and the population
diminished, and several decades passed before

Opat6éw was able to return to its former stature as
aregional center. In 1795, with the third partition
of Poland, Opatéw fell under the control of the
Austrian Empire, and in 1807 it was included in
the Duchy of Warsaw. Then in 1815, it was
included in what was known as Congress Poland.

During the 19th century, the previous pattern of
demographic and commercial expansion
continued. Towards the end of the 19th century,
119 out of 457 homes in the city were built with
stone or bricks. During this period, commercial
ties between Congress Poland and Gdarsk
flourished, and Opatéw served as an interim port
for barges on the Wista River laden with farm
produce, lumber and other goods. At that point,
several new factories were established for the
manufacture of chicory, starch, and cotton. Atthe
beginning of the 20th century, two flour mills and
plants, which manufactured combs, needles and
pins were also established. Trade in Hungarian
and French wine and in salt was also an important
contributor to Opatéw's economic activity.

During the Polish rebellion of 1863, major battles
took place near Opatow that silenced all normal
activity. The Jewish inhabitants of Opatow
supported the rebels. The leader of the final
rebellion, Ludwik Zwizdowski, was executed by
hanging in the market square of Opatéw. In the
First World War, Opatow was occupied by the
Austrians, who controlled the city until 1918.
Later, after the independence of Poland, Opatéw
became a district capital.

The Jews until the End of the First World War

It would seem that the first Jews settled in Opatéw
during the 16th century, even though it was only
in the third decade of the 17th century that we
first find references to the “Street of the Jews” (or
the “City of the Jews”), that stretched from the
northern part of the wall to the market square.
This “City of the Jews” was in practice a partially
autonomous neighborhood that the Jews
themselves protected and preserved. As Jewish
immigration from Germany to Poland increased,
the Jewish population of Opatéw increased
proportionately, despite the antagonism of the
non-Jewish townspeople who feared that the Jews
would dominate business activity and the trades in
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the city. They appealed to the king to limit the
activities of the Jews, particularly in skills such as
weaving, raising cattle, and baking. The king
granted their request, prohibiting Jews from
participating in these businesses. The towns-
people also complained that the Jews were not
fulfilling their responsibility as productive citizens
of the city. In response, the city made it
particularly difficult for the Jewish residents to
acquire land for a Jewish cemetery and to build
their own private homes on their own street. A
short time later, a compromise was reached where
the restrictions on land purchases were removed,
and in return, the Jews took upon themselves to
contribute a portion of the city's annual
expenditures. In 1658, King Jan Kazimierz
renewed the rights of the Jews to purchase
property and engage in business activities in
Opatéw without restriction.

The Jewish community itself did not look
favorably on the influx of immigration of German
Jews. According to the community officials, the
newcomers placed “a heavy burden on the
resources of the community, instigated serious
interference from the non-Jewish residents, and
circumvented normal channels in order to settle
there, this after the regional committees (the
Symikim) had aiready been established along with
the dates and times of the general populace.”
Consequently, the leaders of the community
appealed to the “Council of Four Lands™ to grant
them ‘Demographic Control’ over the Jewish
affairs of the city, meaning the right not to accept
new Jewish immigrants unless they had first
received the approval of the leaders of the Opatow
Jewish community. In 1687, the Council
responded positively to the requests of the elders
of Opatéw and even allowed the community to
expel Jews from Opatéw that had moved there
without their express consent. The Council thus
granted the Community of Opatow the support of
four main Jewish communities in the general area
— Krakéw, Lvov, Lublin and Poznan. The
Council justified its decision based on the fact that
the Jews had but one street in Opatéw and that it
was impossible to widen the one street that was
available to the Jews. Therefore they stated: “We
must support the discretionary powers of the
Jewish leadership in Opatéw in order to protect
the viability of the community”.

In 1656, the Jews of Opatéw owned 45 houses.
There were 50 Jews listed among the tax roll of
businessmen of the city. They pursued a wide
range of business activities in metal tools, spices
and condiments, farm produce, cattle, lumber,
hides and other materials. The Jews of Opatéw
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traveled on business as far as Breslau [Wroctaw]
in the west; however, their main contacts for trade
were in Gdansk. Commercial visitors to Opatéw
came mainly from Lublin and Krakéw. The Jews
of Opatéw also had a significant presence
amongst the city's craftsmen. Among them were
bakers, weavers, glaziers, tailors, shoemakers,
furriers, and butchers. Certain individuals
supported themselves by leasing the rights to
collect government and city taxes (head taxes and
income taxes).

The Jewish presence in business and in the trades
was a constant thorn in the sides of their
non-Jewish competitors. However, the Jews were
savvy enough to skirt the roadblocks placed in
their way by their enemies. Notwithstanding this
constant tension, there were instances when the
two sides helped each other and the non-Jewish
residents appreciated the cooperation that the
Jewish Community was in a position to offer.
Sometimes fostering this sort of cooperation
involved the need for bribery of certain officials
and such bribery made up a significant portion of
the annual community budget.

The expansion of the Jewish community in
Opatoéw was terminated by the outbreak of the war
between Poland and Sweden in the middle of the
17th century. The Street of the Jews was
destroyed in a fire and the soldiers looted
whatever was left. In 1656, the soldiers of the
Hetman Stephan Czerniecki liberated Opatow but
unfortunately Czerniecki also allowed his troops
to riot against the Jews and to kill many of them
indiscriminately. As the war ended, the king, Jan
Kazimierz, help the Jews out of their predicament.
In an official decree in 1657, he permitted them to
rebuild their houses in the old locations where
they had been burned, and to carry on business
and establish stores and butcher shops. These
rights were reaffirmed by the Polish kings who
followed him.

Unfortunately, no sooner had the Jewish
population rebuilt the ruins of the city, when they
were struck by new tragedies. A massive fire in
1680 leveled the vast majority of the Street of the
Jews, and soon thereafter the city was hit with a
major epidemic. In 1685, a rumor of blood libel
spread locally and this endangered the lives of all
the Jews throughout the area. In a small town
near Opatoéw, a day old infant died and a rumor
was spread that he was killed by some Jews. The
governor of the district, who was himself one of
the perpetrators of this rumor, ordered the local
Jewish innkeeper of Opatéw imprisoned and the
Jews were forced to pledge a ransom of 2,400
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zloty over three years in order to free him. This
ransom evolved into an annual permanent tax of
an equivalent amount.

In the 18th century, particularly during the
Austrian annexation (1795-1807) when the
restriction on residences outside of the Street of
the Jews were removed, the number of Jews who
lived outside the city increased and their areas of
economic activity encompassed new and
important areas. To the relatively insignificant
bartering they had been engaged in, the Jews
added a wide range of significant transactions in
crops, lumber, eggs, cattle, and all types of
agricultural products. Certain entrepreneurial
Jews built up a monopoly on the trade of
agricultural products from the entire area. A few
of them leased property for farms and began to
manage them by themselves. At the end of the
19th century, the Jewish population played an
active role in the industrialization of the city. A
local Jewish man established a weaving factory
that only lasted a few years. In the 1890's, Jewish
businessmen built two other factories: one a
tannery for processing hides and the other for
manufacturing sugar. Atthe beginning of the 20th
century, another Jewish businessman established
a plant to dye the homemade garments woven by
the farmers in the area. Nonetheless the main
sources of income to the Jewish population
continued to be small level commercial peddling
and simple skills and crafts.

During the 16th and 17th centuries, the
community of Opatdéw associated itself with the
“National Council of Greater Poland”, part of the
“Council of Four Lands”. Representatives from
Opatdw participated in gathering of the Council,
and certain individuals from Opatéw were
appointed to the subcommittee empowered to levy
the taxes that were placed upon each individual
community.

From 1666 until the beginning of the 20th century,
the Jews of Opatéw maintained a “community
register” (“pinkas kehila™) where the decrees and
customs established by the various community
leaders were inscribed. To this day, this pinkas
provides a valuable source for research into the
history of the community. A copy of this register
can be found in the archives of the central
synagogue in Warsaw, but the register itself was
destroyed in the Second World War. From the
various entries in the pinkas, we are able learn
about the autonomy of a number of groups vis a
vis the community council, and the connection
between the Jewish guilds of tailors and butchers
and the Christian guilds of the same crafts. For
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instance, the Jewish guilds were obligated to pay
membership fees to the Christian guilds, but these
Christian guilds were under no obligation to help
them. There were 11 men on the Council in
charge of the Jewish community (3 beadles, 2
trustees, and 5 bookkeepers). The list of
disbursements in the pinkas provides insight into
the relationships between the community and the
local dignitaries and government officials. The
pinkas also lists outlays for transportation to pay
for visits by the leaders of the community to the
government in Warsaw in order to intercede on
behalf of the community. The outlays also
includes fees paid to “cantors and singers” (for the
most part itinerant cantors who visited the city and
led the Shabbat or holiday services), itinerant
preachers (the community also had its own local
speaker), assistance to poor people who had asked
for help in order to leave the city and emigrate to
the land of Israel, money to redeem prisoners, and
support for representatives of various causes and
projects.

Towards the end of the 16th century, the first
synagogue was built in Opatéw and the first
cemetery was established. A little later, several
charitable organizations were established, “Bikur
Holim”, “Linas Tsedek” [organizations offering
care to the sick], “Hakhnosas Kala” [the wedding
fund], and “Hakhnosas Orchim” [welcoming
guests]. During the 19th century and the
beginning of the 20th century, the community
operated a Talmud Torah [Jewish school], where
most of the Jewish children of the city studied. |

The Rabbis who served in Opatow who are known
to us include: Rav Moshe Mat (Mat being the
Hebrew an acronym for “Spreader of Torah”, died
1606); Rav Yaakov ben Elyokim Halperin (died
1645), who was also a Rabbi in Lvov towards the
end of his life; Rav Eliezer Ashkenazi, also known
as the “Ish Tzvi”, author of “Damesek Eliezer”
(emigrated to Israel in 1651); also Rav Shmuel
ben Eliezer; Rav Avigdor Kra (died 1678); Rav
Yisrael Iser (died 1645); Rav Yitzhak ben Zeev
Wolf, who because of his brilliant mind was
called “Rav Aizik Shpitskopf” (from 1668-1674
when he moved to Krakow, died 1682); and Rav
Shaul ben Heschel (died 1707) who was the Rabbi
of the district of Krakéw (in 1701, he took the
position as Rabbi of Krakéw but he continued to
also hold the title of Rabbi of Opatéw until 1705
when he moved to Breslau); Rav Meir ben
Binyamin Wolf Halperin, who came to Opatow
from Chelm, and in 1718 represented the
community at the “Council of Four Lands” (died
1723); during his tenure, Rav Tzvi Hirsch
Ashkenazi, the “Hakham Tzvi”, also lived in
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Opatéw; Rav Yitzhak Segal Landau, native of
Opatow, Rabbi of the community from 1719 (died
1767); Rav Aharon Moshe Yaakov of Krakow
(from 1730), his letters of appointment from
Opatow date from 1732; Rav Shaul ben Simcha
Halevi (from 1768); Rav Hanina Lipa Miezlish
(from 1772, died 1816); Rav Aryeh Leibish Charif
(in approximately 1790).

Rav Yisrael of Kozienice, one of the four
founders of the Hassidic movement in Poland,
was born in Opatéw. At the end of the 18th
century, the Hassidic Master Rav Moshe Leib of
Sassow became a resident of Opatéw and
established there one of the most prestigious
Hassidic centers in Poland. Many Hassidim were
drawn to his court and some of them became
residents of Opatdw in order to live closer to him.
The Hassidic community grew steadily.

The Hassidim contributed to the increased
demand for all kinds of merchandise and services
in the city. Many Jews made their livelihood by
offering lodging and providing food to the hordes
of Hassidim that visited the Master during the
weekdays and particularly on Shabbat and the
holidays. The visitors also purchased a variety of
merchandise in the city and used the services of
the craftsmen in their respective trades.

Another prominent resident of Opatéw was Rav
Aharon HaKohen (author of “Keter Shem Tov”,
a book about the Baal Shem Tov printed in 1795).
The most famous Hassidic Master who lived in
Opatéw (for a short time) was Rav Yaakov
Yitzhak, “The Holy Jew of Przysucha”. At the
beginning of the 19th century, Rav Avraham
Yehoshua Heschel (“The Apter Rav”), author of
“Ohev Yisrael”, served as both their Hassidic
Master and the Rabbi of the city. He had also
been a student of Rav Aryeh Laibish just as the
“Holy Jew” had been. After he left Opatéow, Rav
Meir Rotenberg, author of “Or La'Shamayim”,
was chosen to fill the position (died 1827). He
was among a group of popular Hassidic Masters
who opposed the views of the “Holy Jew”. After
him, the city chose Rav Shmuel Eibeshitz, another
Hassidic devotee and the author of “Torat
Shmuel” (died 1884). The Hassidic Master in the
city during his tenure was the son of Rav Meir,
Rav Pinhas Rotenberg (died 1837). The dynasty
eventually continued with Rav Meir the son of
Rav Pinchas Rotenberg.

After Rav Pinchas son of Rav Meir, the Rabbis of
Opatow included Rav Yaakov grandson of Rav
Dovid of Leléw, who was also a Hassidic Master;
his grandson Rav Aryeh Leibish Lipshitz, who
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emigrated to Israel; and Rav Tzvi Aryeh (in
1909).

Another well respected resident of Opatéw was
Rav Eliezer Yehoshua Epshtein, who served as
the head of the Rabbinic court for an extended
period until he relocated to Rakéw and to
Chmielnik.

Opatow was also the native city of the Hebrew
poet Natan Nuta Shapira (1817-1897). During the
last quarter of the 19th century there were several
other notable residents of Opatow. These include
the poet and Hebrew writer Y. L. Peretz
(1852-1915), and his father-in-law, the intellectual
and mathematician, Gavriel Yehudah Lichtenfeld
(1811-1887), who published articles in the
journals “HaShachar”, “HaTzefira”, and
“Izraelita”, and authored a text for the study of
mathematics. During the beginning of the 20th
century many Zionist clubs were organized in
Opatdw.

The period of Austrian conquest during the First
World War (1915-1918), was a time of political
reawakening for the Jews of Opatow. Parties that
had been outlawed during the rule of the Tsar
received permission from the new government to
operate openly. A branch of the Bund, which had
previously operated in secret, opened its own
meeting place "tzukunft" (the future) and
conducted a variety of programs, and activities
including a drama club. Zionist activities, which
had begun in the years before the war, were at the
center of the new political freedom. During the
fighting, a Jewish kindergarten opened but it was
forced to close because of a lack of expertise. A
branch of the “Tzeirei Tzion” (Zionist Y outh) was
established in Opatéw in 1918. Its members were
involved in many activities including gathering
food and fuel for the needy in the city.

Opatdow did not escape the wave of anti-Semitism
that raged throughout Poland during the wartime
years. Near the end of the war, a group of Polish
soldiers under the command of a General Haller
passed though Opatow and rioted and looted the
Jewish neighborhood of the city.

Between the Two World Wars

During the 1920's and 1930's Opatéw became
known for the manufacture of brushes, and this
economic niche brought with it recognition
throughout Poland. Most of the factories and
manufacturing facilities in the city were owned by
the Jewish residents. According to a partial
census taken by the Joint [Jewish Joint
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Distribution Committee] in 1921, there were then
approximately 229 Jewish-owned factories and
workshops. More than half of those (146) were
concerned with clothing, 33 dealt with food
production, 18 with the manufacture of leather
and the remainder with other assorted businesses.
Most of them were managed by the owners and
their immediate families. Factories, which
belonged to non-Jews, were not permitted to
employ Jewish workers and the local flourmill,
which was owned by Jews, employed only a few
Jewish workers. As in the past, the main source
of income for the Jews of Opatéow was small
commercial trade. Jewish peddlers purchased
agricultural produce from the local farmers and
sold manufactured goods and crafts to them. A
few Jews operated a transportation service, which
took people and baggage back and forth to the
local train station. Most of the Jews of Opatow
supported themselves only with difficulty. Only
a few of them, mainly those who leased forested
acreage in order to manufacture lumber, were
actually wealthy.

In 1925, the organization of peddlers and
craftsmen in Opatow established a cooperative
bank, but after only three years the peddlers
organization broke away in order to establish an
institution of its own. These two banks, one for
the peddlers and one for the craftsmen, remained
in existence until the beginning of the Second
World War. The city also had a “Charity Fund”,
which provided small interest-free loans to those
who needed them. Several other local institutions
that assisted the needy were the traditional groups
such as “Bikur Holim”, “Linas Tsedek”
[organizations caring for the sick], “Hakhnosas
Kala” [the wedding fund], and ‘“Hakhnosas
Orchim” [welcoming guests]. In 1930, a small
hospital was founded that helped the poor
significantly. It was a branch of the chain of
hospitals called “Ezra”.

During this period between the wars, many of the
children of the community continued to study in
the Talmud Torah, which by 1929 had moved to
a new building. At the beginning of the 1930's, a
Yeshiva was established that lasted for 5 years. In
1923, the government opened an official
elementary school for the children of the Jewish
residents of Opatow (“Shabasuvka™). For the
most part, this was attended by young girls. In
1933, this new school began administering classes
even on Shabbat, and it became a regular public
school attended by both Jewish and non-Jewish
children. In 1925, under the auspices of Agudat
Yisrael, a girl's school associated with the network
of Beis Yaakov, and a boys heder called Yesodei
HaTorah, opened in Opatéw. In 1934, a Hebrew
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school associated with the network “Tarbut” also
opened, and each year, it opened a new grade.
This new Hebrew school also had its own
building.

The Orthodox Jews were a majority among the
Jews of Opatéw and controlled the community
governing committees and its institutions. By
1921, Agudat Yisrael had already established a
branch office in Opatéw. There were also active
branches of most of Europe's Zionist
organizations in Opatéw. In the early 1920's, a
branch of “HeHalutz” was established, whose
members built a agricultural training center on
one of the local farms. In 1927, a branch of
“Hashomer Haleumi” (later known as “Hanoar
Hatzioni”) was founded, and in the early 1930's,
a branch of the Revisionists was also founded.
These Zionist parties and movements were also
involved in cultural programming and initiated
courses in Hebrew and lectures on a myriad of
topics. The number of members in these clubs
was approximately 300. It is possible to draw
some conclusions about the relative strength of
these Zionist parties in Opatow from the results of
the elections to the Zionist Congresses. In 1921,
“Mizrachi” received 159 votes, “Ul Hamishmar”
received 110 votes, and “Hitachdut” received 91
votes. Inthe 1929 elections, "Mizrachi" received
272 of all the votes, “Ul Hamishmar” received 99
votes, “Et Livnot” received 91 votes, and “Poalei
Tzion” 18 votes. In the 1939 elections, the last
ones before the war, “Mizrachi” received 159 of
all the votes, “Ul Hamishmar” received 110 votes,
“Eretz Yisrael Haovedet” 91 votes, and
“Hatzionim Haklalliyim” 33 votes. There was
also a small branch of the Bund in the city and a
small number of Jews were active in the
Communist underground.

In the last elections to the Community Council, 5
representatives were elected from “Agudat
Yisrael”, 3 were Zionists, 2 were representatives
of the city's craftsmen, and there was one
representative who ran as an independent. The
Jews of Opatéw were also represented in the
official city government. In the first election of an
Opatow city governing body in 1919, Jews took
19 out of the 24 seats on the council. In 1927 and
in 1931, only 11 Jews were elected to the city
Council.

In 1920, the Rabbi of Opatéw was Rav Haim
Yosef Bach, who signed the public censure
against the purchase of the position of Rabbi for
money. In 1930, after some severe controversy,
Rav Shalom Rokeach (son of the Hassidic Master
of Belz, Rav Yissakhar Dov Rokeach), was
appointed. He was to be the last Rabbi of Opatéw
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and he was eventually killed in the Holocaust.
The Belz Hassidim had their own small
synagogue. In addition there were small
“shtiblach” of the Hassidim of Gur, Ostrowce,
Modzitz, and Alexander.

In the 1930's, certain racist elements of the city of
Opatow promulgated anti-Semitic propaganda,
and in 1936 several riots and pogroms were
instigated against the Jews. On one of the market
days, gangs of hooligans, among them farmers
from the surrounding areas, descended on the
Jewish shops and stalls, looted their merchandise
and brutalized the storekeepers and their families.
There were also attempts to break into the homes
of the Jewish residents. Thirty Jews were injured.
The police arrested 20 of the hooligans and
brought them to trial. 13 of them were sentenced
to short terms in jail and the rest were allowed to
go free. The court of appeals approved the
sentences but let six more of the ruffians go free
because of their young age.

The Second World War

On the eve of the war, there were 5,200 Jewish
residents of Opatéw. Some of them, particularly
the young, fled to the eastern districts of Poland
that were captured by the Russian army as the war
progressed. Immediately after the city was
captured, the Germans burned the market square
buildings to the ground along with some of the
surrounding homes. Most of those homes
belonged to Jews. On the following day, the
Germans locked 1,000-1,500 residents of the city,
Jews and non-Jews, in the movie house and placed
them under heavy guard for two days without food
or water. The Jews in the movie house were
gradually segregated and brutally treated, with the
excuse that they had hidden weapons or that they
had tried to escape. After these Jews were freed
and allowed to return to their homes, German
soldiers captured another 200 young Jews and
placed them under guard by the SS in an unknown
location. None of these young people were ever
seen again.

At the end of 1939, all of the Jews who lived in
roomier nicer homes were ordered to move to the
Jewish Quarter, one of the poorest neighborhoods
of the city. German officer were billeted in these
empty Jewish homes.

Atthebeginning of 1940, the Germans announced
a long list of laws directed specifically at the
Jewish residents of Opatéw. Every Jew was
obligated to wear a white armband with a blue
Magen David on it; forbidden to walk on the
sidewalks; and forbidden to purchase from
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non-Jews or to sell to them. In addition, the
Jewish community was obligated to pay large
monetary contributions to the Germans. The first
contribution of 60,000 Marks plus assorted
jewelry and valuables was due to be delivered to
the Germans within 24 hours of the order. By the
beginning of 1941, the German had managed to
confiscate all of the businesses in the city that had
been owned by Jews.

At the beginning of 1940, the Jews were ordered
to form a Judenrat. A Mr. Weisbloom was
appointed to the head of the committee. He was
a man of means who was well respected in the
community. The Judenrat was forced to cater to
all the demands of the German officials and
follow all their orders. Nonetheless, Weisbloom
and his colleagues on the Judenrat did their best to
protect the interests of the Jews of Opatoéw. Every
so often they would ransom for money some
family group that the Germans had imprisoned for
some reason. Occasionally, they would resort to
bribery in order to lighten the burden of their
Jewish brethren.

In the spring of 1941, a ghetto was formed in
Opatow and the daily routines in the town
changed entirely. As mentioned above, even
before the establishment of the ghetto the
Germans had managed to confiscate all the
businesses owned by the Jews and to remove them
from all their positions. A station of the S. D.
[Sicherheitsdienst = Nazi Security Service] was
established in Opatéw and this further terrorized
and frightened the Jews. The ghetto of Opatow
was situated on Berko Joselewicz Street' and on
several surrounding alleyways. It was totally
forbidden for anyone to leave the ghetto without
a special permit. As time went on the population
of the ghetto increased. The Germans transported
to the ghetto refugees from many towns and
villages in the district. In addition, Jewish
refugees from Warsaw and L.6dz arrived on their
own initiative because they believed that it would
be easier to cope with the conditions of the
German occupation in the smaller cities of Poland.
As a result of the overcrowded conditions and the
deteriorating sanitation, a typhus epidemic broke
out in the ghetto, particularly among the newer
refugees whose living condition were worse than
the others. The Judenrat and the independent
community charity organizations were enlisted to

! Jewish Street, also known as Broad Street, was renamed
‘ulica Bereka Joselewicza’ in Polish and ‘di gas fun Berek
Yoselevitsh’ in Yiddish, in honor of the Polish Jewish hero
who fought in the Polish army with Tadeusz Kosciuszko in
the Polish uprising during the 1790s. The street's official
Polish name, ‘ulica Bereka Joselewicza’, was seldom used.
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battle the epidemic. An organization called TAZ
(the Jewish Health organization of Poland) ran a
medical dispensary and small hospital that
contained 30-40 beds. There was also a public
kitchen that distributed lunches for a nominal
price to the Jewish intelligentsia that required
help, and after a short time, another public kitchen
was opened to serve other needy families in the
community. At first, the two public kitchens tried
to provide meals with two courses, but as time
went on the meals dwindled down to a bowl of
soup and a diluted cup of coffee. These two
kitchens operated continuously until the
evacuation and relocation/murder of the ghetto of
Opatdw in October of 1942.

The residents of the ghetto did their best to carry
on with the normal functions of the community
including an educational system for the children,
apprenticeship programs, social services and
assistance for the needy. First, the Judenrat drew
on the expertise and initiative of certain
experienced residents in order to establish several
workshops that produced brushes. The purpose of
these workshops was to provide employment for
as many residents as possible because only those
with a regular work assignment and a work
certificate were entitled to receive a daily ration of
bread. At the same time, the members of the
Judenrat committee tried to convince the Germans
to allow them to open a school in the ghetto for
young children. In the end, permission was given
for the school. On the 16th of July a school was
opened that had 6 grades and provided instruction
to 220 children in Hebrew and in Yiddish. Inthe
ghetto there was also a group that met in the
"Ohev Yisrael" Beit Midrash (study hall) to study
Torah. On a small farm near Opatéw, a group of
80-90 young people ran a training program for
young pioneers from the Zionist youth
movements, "Freiheit" (Dror), "Hehalutz Hatzair",
and "Hashomer Hatazair" under the supervision of
the owners of the farm. Their leader was Kalman
Czernikowski.

At first the Germans were satisfied with
demanding from the Judenrat that they provide
slave laborers, and opted not to kidnap people
from the streets as they had been accustomed to
do in other locations. Each day the Judenrat
would enlist 50-60 Jews to work in the homes
where the Germans resided. However, in the
spring of 1941, after the ghetto was established,
the German expectations began to change.
Representatives of "Todt" entered the ghetto at
specified times and kidnapped hundreds of people
for their special work camps. The first group of
young people were sent to work camps in the
Lublin district. The prisoners in these camps
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suffered the indignity of starvation, beatings, and
violence at the hands of the Ukrainian guards and
German soldiers. The vast majority of them died
from starvation and disease. Some committed
suicide. The Judenrat tried to send them packages
of food. After a short while, the "Todt"
representatives demanded from the Judenrat that
they provide 500 additional young people and
threatened to murder the entire ghetto if their
demand was not met. The new workers, men and
women, showed up at the appointed time and were
dispatched to the notorious work camp know as
Skarzysko-Kamienna. After another short time,
another 200 people were removed from the ghetto
to work in a munitions factory at the Starachowice
work camp. Next came the turn of the farm
trainees. One day the Germans arrived at the farm
and removed a large group of youth along with
their leader Kalman Czernikowski. They were
also sent to Skarzysko-Kamienna. Before they
were sent away, Czernikowski managed to make
contact with a group of pioneers located in
Ostrowiec near Opatow. Czernikowski continued
his political activities even at the work camp. At
the end of 1941, Mordechai Anilvich visited
Skarzysko-Kamienna and made contact
Czernikowski and his followers. Even Yitzhak
Cukerman (Antik) visited the members of the
underground of Opatdw.

In the ghetto, there were a few individuals who
collaborated with the Germans. A young Jew
from Germany by the name of Mandelbaum was
in the habit of supplying reams of information to
the German soldiers regarding what was taking
place in the ghetto. For instance, he would inform
them about food that was smuggled into the ghetto
or about the ritual slaughter of chickens or other
animals without permission. Some of the
"culprits" were arrested and subsequently
executed. One day Mandelbaum became
intoxicated and wandered through the streets of
the ghetto singing German and Nazi songs. The
Germans caught him and shot him. Another
young Jew, Poznerson from Lddz, appealed to the
ranking German in charge of the ghetto, General
Governor Frank, with a request that he be allowed
to bring his parents over to Opatéw from the
ghetto in L6dz. In return he offered to give to the
Germans the names of Jews in Opatéw who had
hidden and withheld valuable possessions.
Poznerson also indicated in his letter that the
leaders of the Judenrat of Opatéw had bribed the
local officials and some of the security police in
order to convince them not to conduct searches in
the homes of these Jews. When this letter became
known to the members of the S. D., they arrested
Poznerson and executed him.
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At the beginning of 1942, a group of Jewish
refugees from Silesia arrived in the Opatéw
ghetto. The population of the ghetto, which had
been depleted by the forced conscription of young
people to work camps, now increased once again.
At that point, the young people who remained in
the ghetto began to organize an underground
resistance movement and even obtained some
guns and hid them in a secret place. In the
meantime, the forced conscription increased
again, this time at the hands of the S. D. and the
Gestapo. These new workers were also sent to
Skarzysko-Kamienna and Starachowice. During
this period, the number of escapees to the forest
and to the Aryan districts of the city were on the
increase. The underground of Jewish youth
accelerated is operations, mainly by acquiring
weapons from the Polish inhabitants of the
surrounding areas. They maintained constant
communication with the Polish underground in
Ostrowiec and through them made contact with
other sellers of arms. Generally, it was the young
women who took care of the hiding of weapons.
On one winter's day in 1942, members of the S. D.
and the Gestapo surrounded the cache of weapons.
The young women protecting the cache were
subsequently captured, interrogated, tortured, and
finally murdered. Immediately thereafter, the
furious Germans conducted numerous searches in
the homes of the Jews, and interrogated the
residents of the ghetto. They shot
indiscriminately at any strange faces and
threatened the lives of the members of the
Judenrat. Everyone understood that they had been
turned in by an informer, but no one knew who it
was.

Between the 20th and the 22nd of October 1942,
the ghetto of Opatéw was wiped out. German
soldiers and Ukrainian policemen surrounded the
ghetto, gathered all its inhabitants together in the
large sports field and conducted a selection.
About 500 people who were deemed capable of
working were sent to the work camp in
Sandomierz, and a small group of under 100 Jews,
including the members of the Judenrat and the
Jewish policemen, were returned to the ghetto
under heavy armed guard. The remainder of the
Jews that were then in the ghetto, approximately
6,000 souls, were taken to the Jaszica train station
nearby, stuffed into cattle cars and transported to
the Treblinka extermination camp.

The Jews that were returned to the ghetto were put
to work collecting and inventorying the
possessions left behind by the refugees, and
cleaning up some of the ghetto debris. Once they
had finished their work, they were taken to the
Opatéw Jewish cemetery and murdered there.
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By the summer of 1944, there remained about
1,500 young people from Opatow interspersed in
the various work camps, in Skarzysko-Kamienna
and Starachowice, Radom, Ostrowiec and in other
places. Most of them worked in factories
manufacturing weapons and other military
products for the Germans. The camps were
surrounded by barbed wire fences and the
Ukrainian guards were typically cruel to the
Jewish slave laborers. Beatings were a daily
occurrence, the food was skimpy and poor and
even water was distributed in small quantities.
Periodically, they would separate the weak and
the sick and move them to a nearby forest where
they would be shot. Asthe Red Army approached
the district, the Germans killed even the healthy
prisoners who remained in the work camps.

After the war approximately 300 Jews of Opatow
remained alive, most of them from the work
camps. Certain individuals returned to Opatow.
However, in the face of the oppressive threatening
attitudes of the inhabitants, they left quickly.
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From the Opatow Yizkor Book: Apt (Opatow)
Yizkor Bukh Tsum Andenk fun Undzer Geburts-Shtut in Poylen Velkhe iz Mer Nishta

[Yizkor Book in Memory of our Home Town in Poland Which No Longer Exists]
(Tel-Aviv, 1966)

Geographical Position
by Moshe Greenstein
pages 9-13
Translated from the Yiddish by Mark Froimowitz
translator’s comments are indicated by [ ]

Apt (Opatéw Kielecki), one of the oldest
Jewish cities in Poland, that traces its beginning
back to the 14th century with the arrival in Poland
of the first refugees of the Inquisition, is found in
the Kielce district on the crossroad Kielce-
Sandomierz (Tzozmir) - Ostrowietz, 17 kilometers
from the railroad line Warsaw-Lemberg.

The great distance from the train station and
the difficult communication conditions with the
surrounding area set its fate and development.
Therein, one can see the reason why Apt remained
a small town and why its population never
exceeded 15 thousand inhabitants, the great
majority of them Jews.

That is why Apt served as a poviat [district]
city and a natural Jewish center for a series of
small and larger Jewish towns in the vicinity.
Around Apt were found the following towns and
roads:

The old city Tzozmir (Sandomierz) which is
on the Vistula on the east side, Ozarzw and
Cmieléw on the west, the Staszéw-Chmielnik
highway (through the smaller Jewish settlements
Iwanska-Bogoria) on the south side which further
lead to Kielce and there joined with the road
which leads from the city through Lagéw-Kielce,
and, above all, the Ostrowiec train station that
virtually served as a “window” and an outlet point
for the population of Apt to the wide world of the
mind: Warsaw, Lodz, Radom and other larger city
centers in Poland with whom the Jews of Apt had
close trade relations.

Of all the mentioned cities, only Tzozmir
surpassed Apt with its many year existence as a
historical renowned passage through the Vistula
of west Poland to the east (Lemberg, Ukraine) and

back. In the year 1878, we first find the mention
of Jewish Ostrowiec by the railroad station which
they indeed designated as “Ostrowiec which lies
close to the city of Apt” (Pinkas [Record Book] of
the Vaad [assembly of rabbis and community
leaders] of the Four Lands [Great Poland, Little
Poland, Red Rus', and Volhynia)), page 404).

The pride of the city was therefore her great
Jewish past and the many generations that it
served as a spiritual center for the Jews in the
vicinity which greatly contributed to the Jewish
autonomous management of Polish Jews (Vaad of
the Four Lands). The autonomous community
Apt put its seal on the cultural development of its
own inhabitants with its communal, spiritual, and
social institutions so that, until the tragic death of
Polish Jewry in the Second World War, Apt
served as a culture center in the development and
battle of Polish Jewry on the way to national
emancipation and the trends to general social
freedom.

Its Origin

Itis difficult to determine exactly the year that
the Jewish settlement began its existence and,
with it, also the existence of the city in general
(how Apt became known as a Jewish city). Ofthe
various opinions among historians-concerning the
original pedigree of Polish Jewry in general
(according to Prof. M. Balaban - from West
European refugees from the Inquisition, according
to Dr. Y. Shipper - from the “Kozrim” [the
Khazars]). The same also for the origin of old
Jewish cities in the Middle Ages. The historian
A. Feldman, in his work “Di Elste Yedios Vegn
Yidn in Poyleshe Shtet in 14-16’tn Yorhundert”
[The Oldest Information Concerning Jews in
Polish Cities in the 14th to 16th Centuries],
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mentions about 50 Jewish settlements that were
established in several periods during that era in
Great Poland (district: Posen, Sieradz, and others)
and in Little Poland (district: Krakéw, Lublin and
others). Among them, Apt is also mentioned.

However, even before the existence of the
Jewish community in Apt was known on the basis
of the “Pinkas HaKahal” [Record Book of the
Community] that the community had begun
already in the year 1666 and which was guarded
until the last years of the destruction of Polish
Jewry (see: N. Sokolov, Pinkas Kehilla Apta
[Record Book of the Community of Apt]), we find
in the known document “K’sav Gloy™:

“Two important people from the Jews came to
us and showed their rights in the city of Apt, that
were given by Prince Boleslav in the year 1267
(Boleslav the pious, the prince of Kalish, see
Sokolov) to renew and certify the rights also for
the future”.

What did the rights consist of?  The
mentioned Jews of Apt, who distinguished
themselves in trade, had the right to travel over all
of Poland under the protection of the government,
to trade and conduct the business of buying and
selling.

It is also known that Avraham Bohemis, who
was nominated as tax collector for all of Great
Poland (1512-1514) had tried in his youth to
secure the same rights as the two merchants of
Apt.

However, the normal life of the community
first began in the beginning of the 16th century.
The city did not call itself without reason “Der
Tor HaZahav” [The Golden Line] of Polish Jewry
with the organizing of the “Vaad of the Four
Lands” which virtually served for the Jews of
Poland “as a government within the government”.

The Vaad of the Four Lands

The attached map [not shown] concerning the
activities of the Vaad of the Four Lands, the
Jewish self-management of Polish Jewry in these
years (1650-1774) shows that Apt already figured
then in a line with the great centers of Polish
Jewry in that time, such as Lublin, Krakéw,
Jaroslaw, and others.
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However, it is not just geographical. The
records of the meetings of the “Vaad of the Four
Lands” are replete with clear evidence that
illuminates the great worth of the city in that era
and of the golden chain of renowned rabbis, great
commentators [talmudic/biblical], and plain great
Jews of the ordinary people.

This and also this: The Jewish historians of
that time and also the records of the “Vaad of the
Four Lands” base themselves on copies of the
historical and renowned Pirnkas of the community
of Apt (see “Pinkas Vaad Arbe Artzos” [Pinkas of
the Vaad of the Four Lands] collected statutes by
the hand of Y. Halpern).

And the several quoted facts of the above
mentioned Pinkas should give witness:

In the year 5404 (1644), the Vaad of the Four
Lands gave religious approval to publish the book
“Damasek Eliezer” of Rav Eliezer the son of Rav
Shmuel Tzvi from Apt, av bais din [chief judge]
and head of the seminary of the holy community
of Apt (page 75).

In the year 5439 (1679), we also find the
name of Leibel Yitzchak from Apt among the
signatures of the “Heads of the Province” on a
loan that the Polish Jews received from George
Miltner of Miltenberg to cover a debt of taxes to
the Polish government in the name of the “Vaad
Jeruslaw of the Vaad of the Four Lands™ (page
176).

In the year 5447 (1687), we find a special
session of the Vaad of the Four Lands dedicated
to Apt and the rights of new inhabitants in the
city. Because of crowding and a shortage of
dwellings, it was forbidden for new immigrants to
settle in the city (page 206 - according to excerpts
of the Pinkas of Apt).

In the year 5451 (1691), the heads of the
community of Opatéw went to Pinczéw and

Krakdw to strive for the good of all Jews (page
224).

In the historical records of the Vaad of the
Four Lands, signed by the great rabbis of each
generation who sat “in judgement” on the then
current questions of Polish Jewry and reflect the
greatness of the Jewish autonomous self-
management in the 220 year period of its
existence, we find, among others, also the
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signatures of Apt rabbis and heads of the
community:

In the year 5428 (1668) - Rav Yitzchak
Charif, khes”vuv [khosem vesofer?/writer of holy
books?] of the holy community of Apt (page 110).

In the year 5425 (1665) - Rav Mordechai
Meherer [acronym for our teacher, the scholar,
and our master Rav] Nosson Niteh Kahane from
Apt (page 202).

In the year 5487 (1728), the officer Aharon
Menachem Mendel from Apt (page 230).

In the year 5502 (1742) - Tzvi Hirsh Segal
from Apt (ibid 243).

In the year 5573 (1813) - Meir the son of Rav
Binyomin Volf Halpern, ches,vuv’kof [chosem
vesofer kodesh?/holy writer of holy books?] of the
holy community of Apt. From the year 5481, av
bais din of Lublin and the Galil [province] (ibid
275).

In the year 5577 (1817) - Rav Yehuda Segal
Landau from Opatéw (ibid 287), the father of
Rabbi Yechezkal Landau, rabbi of Prague and
author of the book “HaNodeh BeYehuda” (see the
book “Sharei HaMayuh” of HaRav Y.L.
HaCohen-Mimon, Chapter 17).

In the year 5593 (1833) - Rav Yitzchak
Landau, av bais din of Apt (ibid 295), the second
son of Rav Yehuda Landau.

Other sources of that time also bring along
with great respect the memory of great rabbis and
scholars of Apt. Concerning the beginning of the
Chassidic movement in Poland (1730) and its
founder, M. Edelboym brings quotations from Rav
Yisroel Isser, rabbi and av bais din in Mezritsh
who came from Apt, the residence of Rav
Avraham Yehoshua Heshel. His parents were
wealthy Jews who held landholding estates in
lease. As a young boy, he studied with the “Holy
Jew” - Rav Yakov Yitzchak of Pshische (the holy
Jew was from Apt)... (see “Misnaggdim
[Opponents of Chassidism] and Chassidim in
Mezritsh” M. Edelboym, Buenos Aires (1956)
page 160).

The scholar of the Chassidic movement and
rabbinical works, A. Shteinman, brings out in his
work (“Shar Chassidus” - A. Shteinman) among
other great rabbis and commentators on the Torah,
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also the memory and works of Rav Avraham
Yehoshua Heshel from Apt, the author of “Ohaiv
Yisroel” and later the Mezshibozsher Rebbe; Rav
Meyrle “Apter” the heir of “Chozeh M’Lublin”,
Jews from the surrounding area would come to his
“dwelling” in the Apt cemetery on the anniversary
of his death; the “Holy Jew” from Pshische
(someone who was born and raised in Apt), and
others.

With the beginning of the Haskolleh
movement on the Jewish street, we find in Apt the
thinker and Hebrew poet Nosson Neta Shapira
(1808-1897), his poems were printed in “The
Harvest Time”, the translator into Yiddish of “The
Letter from Horatio to Julius Caesar” and other
works. In that time also lived in Apt the engineer
and scientist Gavriel Yidel Lichtenfeld (1811-
1887) who in his time authored many textbooks
and methods in mathematics, the father-in-law of
the renowned Jewish writer Y. L. Peretz, who
himself also lived in Apt a long time and we find
traces of his deep impressions of the city and
surroundings in many of his works.

The emancipation of the Jewish street and the
rise of nationalistic freedom movements found in
Apt a deep echo and a natural basis among the
Jewish population.  General revolutionary
freedom ideals also found their way into the hearts
of the youth of Apt. Which Jewish party,
organization, and institution did not have a branch
in Apt and which political leader and activist in
his time did not visit Apt repeatedly, lecture and
have an impressive time with his followers and
with ordinary Jews of Apt?!

And not only in the political social domain.
What writer, poet, and other artists of the word
and stage did not visit the city many times and
always found a large auditorium and thirsty
listeners for his topic or creation?

Since Apt was famous for its vigilant
population and intelligent youth and served as a
Jewish cultural center for the entire vicinity until
the cruel day when all this was destroyed.

We strive to express in this book, albeit as a
distant echo, something of what our city possessed
in the time of its existence and what its demise
contributed to the overall great loss of Polish
Jewry.
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The Construction of the City of Apt and Her Vicinity

by Moshe Greenstein
pages 14-26

It is difficult to find a definite plan and
certainly not a high architectural plan in the
construction of an old Jewish town in Poland.
Nevertheless, it is also difficult to say that the rise
and development of Apt is a result of random
events. Just as it is possible to investigate
precisely the sociological development of the city
- one can also, in close connection to this, find the
traces of its structural development and
architectural motifs from the distant past that have
placed their stamp on its construction all the way
until recent times.

According to what is known from old sources,
the Jewish settlement in Apt came into existence
in the 15th century. Thereby, began the actual
existence of the city in general with the passage of
the large agricultural domain which contained an
entire series of smaller and larger villages into the
possession of Prince Krzysztof Szydlowiecki of
Krak6w who probably laid the cornerstone for the
future city of Apt, though it is not excluded that a
few Jewish families were already settled in the
vicinity many years previously (see Sokolov -
“Toldot Hakehilla” [The History of the
Community]).

This Prince was indeed the first to understand
the necessity of a central city trade center, that
would, on one hand, concentrate the sale of the
village production of the region without difficulty
and lost time for the peasants, and, on the other,
also ensure the provision of the necessary food
products, work tools and clothing to the large
village center. And who else could have filled
such a role, if not the new Jewish immigrants to
Poland who arrived and settled in the vicinity
(Lublin-Krakow) thanks to the generosity of the
then Polish king Zigmund-August (Y. Trunk:
“Toldot Hayehudim B’Lublin Vesvive” [History of
the Jews in Lublin and Vicinity]).

According to all probabilities, the Jewish
settlement began at the crossroads from which
branched off the roads that led to the larger village
points of that time, those which we already knew
in our times as adjacent towns around Apt such as
Ostrowiec, Cmieléw, Ozaréw, Klimontow,
Iwaniska, and Lagéw. Not accidental is the

survival until our own day of the practice,
advantageous to the city of Apt, whereby the
merchants and artisans of Apt had market days on
designated days of the week for each town. This
also shows that, at first, the entire trade and
artisanship concentrated itself in Apt. Later, with
the development and branching out of the
agricultural vicinity, when it became difficult for
the peasant to creep with his horse and wagon a
greater distance to the city (Apt), the merchants
and artisans of Apt found it necessary to “trouble
themselves” and to bring their wares to the
smaller centers in the surrounding “osades” [small
villages] in order to make it easier for the peasant
- and mainly to increase their own business
turnover- because there was the risk that the
peasant would find the way closer to other city
centers which began to develop at that time
(Sandomierz, Chmielnik, Ostrowiec, and others).

As stated above, the construction of the town
began as a “crossroads” in the form of the “Jewish
Street” which for many years constituted the
entire city. As in all Jewish towns of that time,
the Jewish Street in Apt was also built as a closed
ghetto because of the fear of being attacked and
robbed by robber bands, thieves, and, in general,
anti-Semites who got a desire from time to time
for Jewish goods and often also for Jewish blood.
Analyzing the rise and building of the old Jewish
towns in Poland, it is difficult to assert that the
idea of the Jewish ghetto originated from enemies
and anti-Semites. The latter have indeed always
existed but they only served as a reason that,
because of them, Jews themselves planned their
settlements as locked Jewish ghettos. With night
fall, the entrances were closed on all sides and
their own Jewish watchmen were placed to guard
the city all night. The “dpter Pinkas” [record
book of Apt], one of the oldest documents in the
field of research on the history of Jewish cities in
Poland in the Middle Ages, dedicates the greatest
portion of its first “pages” from the earliest years
to the organization of the “guarding”, the upkeep
of the watchmen, and, in general, the issues of
security.
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Even until the last years, one could still find
in Apt traces of the so-called Jewish style of
construction during the many generations of the
Middle Ages, though after every fire and plague
with which the history of Jewish towns was told
and numbered, one began to repair and patch the
burned and collapsed Jewish houses on the Jewish
Street. And so “renewed”, the Jewish style did
not much change the general construction of the
city and the quarter of the old Jewish settlement
until the last days of the groyse khurban [great
destruction/Holocaust]. This explains the big
difference in the external appearance of the
Jewish Street until the “marketplace”, for
example, or other new sections of the city.

The Jewish Street began with two rows of
houses, from the later-added Klezmorim
[Musicians] alley that led to the river where Jews
washed their “laundry”, one of the first necessities
of olden times due to the lack of water in large
quantities as is required to wash clothing, and it
extended until the Jewish cemetery on the other
side, where every Jew was accorded “his right”
after 120 years before bringing him to the “world
of truth” [heaven)].

In the very middle of the street (which
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constituted the city, but in time, with the
expansion of the new city, the name remained “the
Jewish Street”), Jews, as a matter of course, built
the “spiritual center”, the shul [synagogue] and
bais hamedrish [house of study], which really
served for many years as the spiritual center and
impulse of social living in every Jewish town.
The bath and mikve [ritual bath] were below on
Ivansker Way near the well that was there and
without which no bath and mikve could exist....
We children no longer remember this bath that
probably burned down in previous fires and left a
great hole (probably of the mikve) in which we
children of Ivansker Way used to play on the way
to and from cheder [lowest traditional school],
taking a “short cut” from Ivansker Way through
“Lower Rampart” to Shayele Melamed [religious
teacher] or Melech “Bendlmacher” [ribbon
maker} and even in the later Mizrachi Cheder by
Melech Beser and Baynish Poyker [drummer]....

When this community bath was destroyed, it
truly took a long time and many years went by
until the community could again construct a new
bath in the same place. In the meantime, the city
was provided with the important institution and
Jewish pleasure by Chaim Sender’s bath which
was inherited afterwards by his son Yankel
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“Beder” [the Bathman]. And here is the proof,
with the renovation of a reconstructed, new
modern bath and mikve on the above mentioned
place, Yankel Beder would have truly been left
without an income, if not that, at that time, there
arrived the first buses instead of the “droshkes”
[horse-drawn cabs] that circulated from times
immemorial between Apt and the Ostrowiec train
station. Yankel Beder was truly glad to throw
himself into the new source of income as a partner
with others and left the “hokes” and “barankes”,
that had served for years as horse-drawn cab
drivers and porters, without an income.

As was said, the center of social life was the
shul and bais hamedrish that were in the middle
of the street. The origin of the Apt shul dates
from the 16th century or even earlier.
Nevertheless, it is probable that the below bais
medrish was much older than the shul, perhaps
not in the form that we knew it, since after every
fire, it is certain that it was partially
“reconstructed”. For example, the wooden ceiling
with the thick beams which for many generations
rested on old, thick stone walls which, long ago,
had sunk deep into the ground, much deeper than
the shul (thereby, the windows of the bais
hamedrish reached to the ground from outside, so
that the children of Apt often used to sneak
through the windows when the gabai [shul
manager]| wasn’t looking...)

It is also self-evident that the shu/ wasn’t built
in the first years of the Jewish settlement in the
place, but when the settlement was already well-
to-do and could afford to erect such a monumental
work as the Apt shul presented itself. And where
indeed did the Jews pray and assemble before the
shul was built, if not in the old bais medrish?...

For this very reason, the shul represented
something great and special in the architecture of
shul construction in Poland, so that many
historians and researchers of antiquities, both
Jews and Christians, did not stop visiting and
photographing it.

From the outside, our shu/ did not look so
beautiful and imposing as it was really on the
inside and this was also probably in order not to
attract the “evil eye” from outside.

In general style, our shul fitted more or less
the Gothic school: the large building, supported
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by four thick stone corner-columns, filled in
between with brick “blind” walls until high under
the ceiling, where they first left high windows,
rounded at the top in Gothic style, decorated with
multicolored glass that on a sunny day,
illuminated the entire shul and everyone’s
countenance with diverse colors.

At the ceiling, the corner columns were
stylishly rounded from all four sides in the
direction of the center of the shul and there united
with the cupola of the belemer [reader’s table},
surrounded by a barrier of stone, supported by
four columns, round poles which raised the
belemer several meters above the general stone
floor, to which lead about ten stone stairs on
opposite sides. Here the cantor chanted the
important prayers during holidays and Sabbaths
and here they brought the sefer torah [scroll of the
Pentateuch] to read the weekly section. It was
brought in from one side of the belemer and
returned from the other side in order to allow all
of the worshippers to stand up and kiss the torah
while it was carried by.

The walls and ceiling were covered with
various ancient murals. Especially renowned
were the twelve symbols of the tribes that
decorated the ceiling. Like the belemer - so also
the aron kodesh [cabinet that contains the torah
scrolls] in the middle of the east wall. The
passageway to it through a row of stone steps
which also served for the Cohanim [hereditary
priests] to perform the priestly blessing and, on
the morning of Yom Kippur eve, to administer
lashes to every Jew who voluntarily laid down (a
puzzlement for we small children: How does a
Jew lie down voluntarily in order to be lashed and
even pays the lasher a few coins for his
trouble?...) The steps were fenced in on both sides
with two large stones which served as places to
put the tall yahrtzeit [anniversary memorial]
candles on Yom Kippur [Day on Atonement] eve
and which gave the Shabbos goy [a non-Jew who
was hired to perform duties forbidden to Jews on
the Sabbath, such as turning lights and heat on] a
full day of labor to make sure that they, God
forbid, should not start a fire if they fell while
melting... On the right side, the stone was moved
a little away from the stairs to allow the placement
of the “umood” [cantor’s pedestal] with the large
“schevisi” [from Hebrew inscription “schevisi
hashem lenegdi tomid’] cabinet that was also
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renowned for its uniqueness. For this reason, the
right stone received a special honor and there
rested on it for the entire year the large copper
menorah [candelabrum] that was lit only on
Chanukah [Festival of Lights].

The Jews of Apt were rightly proud of the
shul that was renowned as one of the oldest,
stylistically unique shuls in Poland. Not without
reason did the historian and folklore researcher,
Dr. Shipper, not forget to view the wonder of the
Apt shul every time he visited the city on a social
mission.

Christian Citizens in the City

One shouldn’t forget that with the further
development of the city trading center, various
Christian artisans from the vicinity also began to
gather in the place and the Christian owner of the
region also had to worry about their “welfare”,
first of all for settlement and, afterwards, for
spiritual “sustenance”.

According to various historical sources, the
Christian settlement in the vicinity of the city first
began in the 18th century, so that, in the year
1856, there was in Apt, according to the official
census which probably took in the entire vicinity
(for from where did so many Christians appear in
Apt in that time?...) 1328 Christians and 2517
Jews (according to the Hebrew Encyclopedia).

Since the Christian settlement took place very
far from the Jewish city, the Prince first erected
the large church. According to one theory, it is
the same age as our shul and, as is said by those
that have visited, it is not inferior in its beauty and
stylistic uniqueness to ours..., not to compare the
two. The church, which stood on a hill, was
surrounded by a large garden which also
contained the residences of the clergymen and
organist. The garden was enclosed by a tall,
mortared stone wall, which began at the church's
main entrance, at the road to Lagow, fenced off
the highway to Ostrowiec -- which was at a much
lower elevation than the wall -- and terminated on
the main highway with a large gate (the Broom),
which left the Christian population outside the
wall. The large area between the “Jewish Street”
and the church, which was empty at that time,
served as a marketplace for the peasant carts that
came together in the city for market days. It is
difficult to believe that this was made this way at
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the explicit request of the Jewish population, but
it is certain that it guarded well the Jewish
settlement from “too close contact” and conflicts
with the Christian, peasant gatherings that
assembled every Sunday and holiday in the church
and by their opportunity also “to have a drink” in
the city. And when was it more opportune for
anti-Jewish excesses from enemies if not when the
mob goes out from their “prayer” and is a little
tipsy?...

Accordingly, our fathers had sad stories to tell
about libels and “unrest” of this type that often
occurred in the city and vicinity that not
infrequently gave Jews the fear of death and often
even claimed victims.

Expansion and Growth

Meanwhile, the Jewish settlement also grew
and strengthened itself. The Jewish Street could
no longer accommodate the growing and new
families that settled in the city with the
broadening of economic possibilities. Then new
streets and alleys began to develop around the
Jewish Street in all directions. But, since they lay
further from the center, they were, from the first,
built narrower and more intimate as if pressed to
their mother for fear and the evil eye: Such
indeed is the “Narrow Street” on one side, “Lower
the Rampart” on the other side, which stretched
until Ivansker Way and afterwards made it
possible to build houses along the entire road,
after Upper Street and the “Jordan” were filled up
literally to the gate of the Jewish cemetery.

All of these streets connected at many points
through passageways with “Broad Street” which
continued to serve and always served as a center
of Jewish life in the city. That is why Ivansker
Way stretched and bound all streets that bordered
on it until the marketplace, for it naturally
continued to serve as an entrance for the arriving
peasants from the villages in the vicinity. This is
also how the later “Ogrodova” Street grew (the
street which led to the cultivated garden that was
planted much later in the marketplace).

Worse was the lot of Jewish artisans and for
other Jewish occupations that began to develop
over time. These literally did not have a place to
live in the “Jewish city”. Never mind the grain
merchants and small businesses of other village
products who were glad to settle literally on the
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street by the entrance from the villages into the
city (with the quiet intention of grabbing the
peasant and his wagon of “possessions” even
before he entered the city and buying everything
for lower prices than the “going rate” in the city...)

However, the artisans that also got their
livelihood in a large measure from the Jewish
population did not have many alternatives. They
squeezed themselves in at the edges of the Jewish
streets, especially Lower Street, in part of
Ivansker Way, through Klezmorim Alley until
Lagover and Ostrovtzer Ways, so that their houses
reached literally until the entrance of the Christian
church.

The “Marketplace”

That the marketplace is not mentioned even
once in the “Pinkas” [book of minutes] and in no
other sources from olden times is because the
building of the marketplace began much later and
because of understandable reasons:

In those years, all business was conducted in
the marketplace with stalls or simply under the
open sky, especially during market days. Building
around the marketplace probably began with the
erection of temporary small shops by the
inhabitants of the “Jewish Street” on the same
place that they occupied during market days in a
stable manner and so obtained a “claim” on the
place. At that time, the city did not have any
Christians and all shops in the marketplace were
owned by Jews since trade at that time, in general,
was in Jewish hands and not only in Apt.

In the course of time, when the merchants
became more prosperous, they began to build
apartments near the stores and above them, in the
form that we already remember the marketplace
with its stores in our time.

The Relations with the Christian Inhabitants

The Christian city population began to insert
itself in the city in much later years and this also
in side streets with farming, orchard plantations,
and other non-Jewish sources of income which
had to sell their products to the Jewish inhabitants
and were, therefore, totally dependent on them.
The few Christian stores and houses in the center
of the city that we remember were first set up in
the second half of the 19th century and these were
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in close connection with the setting up of
governmental institutions in the city which, of
necessity, brought a whole group of Christian
governmental employees (poviat [district
government], magistrate, police) and academic
professionals (school teachers, doctors,
pharmacists, and lawyers).

However, all of these already built their
residences in the new side streets such as
Ostrovtzer, Sandomiezsher, and Ozsharover
Ways, because the center of the city had already
long been “taken”.

There were always poor Christian workers
and non-Jewish artisans in a Jewish town who
obtained their incomes from Jews and were

- “dependent” on the good will of Jews, so that,

with time, they even learned to speak Yiddish.
Apt had many of these, but they lived far from the
city center and even in nearby villages.

However, the many year Jewish history is full
of hatred of Jews that does not tolerate Jewish
autonomy in a Christian, even democratic country.
Apt was also like other cities with the entire
Jewish population “distributed” for elective
purposes so that with artificial cooperating
villages was created, if not a complete Christian
majority, a large minority of Christian inhabitants
who could not tolerate any absolute Jewish rule.
This also declares why the municipality of Apt
never had a Jewish mayor, only in the best
situation, a vice-mayor (Dr. Rabinowitz).

The Surrounding Area

Jewish Apt was at least blessed with a nice
agricultural vicinity, which aside from being the
source of income for many Jewish families, also
served as a so-called “spiritual sustenance” for the
Jews of Apt. And not only for the dreamers,
“philosophers” and “poets” that the town had,
who sought their inspiration and creativity in the
“bosom of nature” but you could even find a
Chassidic Jew with his children on a hot summer
day in the afternoon hurrying to the “shluze”
[dam/sluice] on Ozsharover Way by the bridge or
under the “kanye” [canyon?/water hole] on
Tzozmerer Way, in order to rinse himself after the
hard toil in sweat from a long summer day and,
truly having fun, naked with the children. and
friends on the shore of the lake, or bathing himself
and, with great pleasure, swimming in the river,
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reaching until the first and second block and even
jumping from the bridge, dipping himself in deep
water...

The River

Widely known was the town with its river
“Opatovke” which surrounded it on all sides. Itis
probable that the city was built first in the middle
of a circle of a natural curve of the river that was
created in the vicinity so that it is difficult today
to determine exactly who inherited the name: The
city from the river or, what seems more probable,
the river from the city.

The river began as a small stream from
several natural springs, way beyond the Christian
cemetery where it meandered slowly and created
between the mountains, wide, naturally green
fields and unusually pretty, wild nature plants. It
was indeed here that every Shabbos morning that
all of the Jewish city families and especially the
youth of all circles and strata, streamed from the
beginning of the month of May (Mayuvka [May
outing/picnic]) in order to spend their day of rest
in nature. Here, spread out with food and drink,
to grab a Sabbath nap under the open sky and
other ways of passing time. Until the non-Jew
Stachore, who leased the wide “meadows” as
pasture for his cows, took to persecuting, to
scattering the Jews while riding on a horse and
interfered with the Jewish rest.

From behind the Christian cemetery, the river
flowed and spread widely below the street, past
Burovski’s house (the long time mayor of the city)
and, as was said, permitted the Jews to wash their
laundry in the river from which one could hear all
day long the noise of the “kinke” [probably a flat
piece of wood] on the wet laundry.

From there, the river went under the Polish
“Shkole” [School] in Yankel Beder’s orchard, cut
intwo Lagover Way, under the bridge, and wound
its way by Mandelbaum’s factories (soap, candles,
and other chemicals) to Ostrovtzer Way, where
the large iron bridge lead to the “Brum” [large
gate] with the old, historical, high wall, the
entrance to the city from the Ostrowiec train
station.

Here, near the bridge, the river united with the
river that came from the “meadows” and created
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the great man-made “ponds” for fishing in the
summer and ice mining in the winter.

Inasmuch as the chopping of ice began in the
late winter when the thick ice layer was already
weaker and allowed itself to be split into smaller
pieces which were brought for “burying” in
“lamas” [storerooms] until the summer season of
cold soda and “Jodes” [ice cream], we children
meanwhile used the pond for skating, some on
“lizshves” [skates] and some just with boots or
shoes. And not once did it happen that a
“tachshid” [brat] came home with wet pants after
tasting the flavor of icy cold water because the ice
split and only with great exertions were we barely
able to bring him out of the pond. And if he only
received a death-scare here, he did not entirely
escape dry from his father’s hands...

From the ponds, the river went down with
great turbulence to the large wheel of Goldman’s
mill and caused it to move. For hours at a time,
children would stand by the bridge, opposite the
wheel, intoxicated with the noise of the mill from
the waterfall that fell from the wheel in a wide
sheet of water into the deep void...

From here, the joined river wound its way
behind the hospital and flowed between gardens
and orchards until the bridge on Ozsherover Way
and fell into the “shluze”, which was said,
presented itself as a broad “lake” and served
during the summer to rinse away Jewish sweat
and dirt such that even we children, as
schoolchildren of the then yet new, modern
Mizrachi School, used to march every summer
day under the supervision of Teacher Simcha,
each child with a piece of soap and a towel under
his arm to the shluze which served during the
summertime as a local “Riviera” for the youth of
Apt.

The vicinity of the Tzoomirer bridge and
much further away, from the early afternoon
hours, served as a romantic center for the youth
who strolled and spent time here until late at
night, and reached as far as the “sandumierke”,
the kanye and the Bamberkever woods....

[The translator would like to thank Norman
Buder, Alek Silver, and Halina Brown for their
enormous help with the translation].



20 Kielce-Radom SIG Journal Volume 5, Number 4 Autumn 2001
m

Opatow — Article from Stownik Geograficzny
Translated from the Polish by Roman Kowalski

The 16-volume Stownik Geograficzny Krélestwa Polskiego i innych krajéw slowiadskich [Geographical
Dictionary of the Kingdom of Poland and other Slavic Lands), edited by Filip Sulimierski, et. al. was
published in Warszawa between 1880 and 1902. This Polish-language reference work is the best single
source for finding general information about places in the Kingdom of Poland. For more information about
the Stownik Geograficzny, see the article by William F. Hoffman in Avotaynu XV1:3 (Fall 2000), pages 49-
53, or < http://www.pgsa.org/slownik_eng.htm >,

Translated here are small parts of the article on Opatow, from Volume VII, pages 545-549. The bulk of the
article (not translated here) deals with the town’s medieval history (church and nobles), and economic
statistics.

Opatéw — in documents Opatow, Opathow or Magna Opatow, powiat (district) town in Radom gubernia,
lies on the Opatéwka River or Lukawa at 50°48' latitude N and 39°4' [21°26'] longitude E, at the joining point
of several brooks flowing down the Lysogor mountain range and then forming Opatéwka River, on the hill
at 615 meters above sea level, in the valley surrounded by steep slopes, 175 wiorsts [about 115 miles] from
Warsaw and 76 wiorsts [SO miles] from Radom. Beaten paths from Opatéw lead to Ostrowiec, the nearest
Dabrowsko-Iwanogrodzka railway station (17 wiorsts [11 miles]), Sandomierz (28 wiorsts [18 miles]) and
Stopnica. Opat6éw has two churches made of brick — a parish one, former collegiate and the other one is the
former Bernadine order church. It also has a Russian Orthodox church, district hospital by the name of St.
John, elementary school (urban type), the court of peace for Opatéw and Ostrowiec (III district), gminy
(county) court (I district) belonging to the meeting of justices of peace in Sandomierz (I district), powiat
(district) office, tariff bureau (V district), town hall, gminy (county) office, post office, and telegraph office.
There are 306 houses made of brick, 5,135 inhabitants and 1,331 morg [1 mérg = 1.2 acres) of land belonging
to the bourgeoisie. In 1827 ~ 360 houses and 2,406 inhabitants; in 1862 — 360 houses (180 of brick) and
3,920 inhabitants (2,601 Jews); in 1867 — 4,315 inhabitants. . . .

Stanistaw August [the last of the Polish kings] coming back from Kaniéw in 1787, arrived here June 9.
“About the quarter of a mile there met His Majesty crowds of peasants, bourgeois and Jews, making cheerful
chanting. There His Majesty stayed in the most elegant austeria [an inn, run by Jews]; after dinner he visited
the collegiate, listened to the parish priest’s sermon, was aware of singing te deum laudamus, he saw
Szydiowieckis’ tombs, finally he took a stroll around newly erected houses, finely decorated after the recent
fire”. After the influx of Jews in about 1634, Opatow started to be divided into two parts, Christian and
Jewish. The Christian one consisted of the long market along which the wooden houses stood. Greek
merchants had large stocks of wine, furs etc. There were also clothes shops and “norymberskie”
[“Nuremberg products” = iron utensils] shops. The Jewish town had houses made of brick, but the remaining
ones, badly and too densely erected was just a pile of waste. . . .

Photos from the Opatow Yizkor Book:
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Opatéw — 1929 Business Directory Entries
Transcribed by Mark Froimowitz, Translated by Warren Blatt

Transcribed below are the entries for Opatéw from the 1929 Polish business directory Ksigga Adresowa
Polski (Wraz z w.m. Gdaiiskiem) dla Handlu, Przemystu Rzemiost i Rolnictwa [Directory of Poland
(including Gdaiisk) for trade, industry, handicraft and agriculture], (Warszawa, 1929), from pages 251-252.
For more information about this directory, see Kielce-Radom SIG Journal IV:1 (Winter 2000), pages 27-29.

We thank JRI-Poland for making these pages available to us. JRI-Poland is currently engaged in a project
to transcribe this entire 3,000 page directory, and create a searchable online database. If you would like to
help, please see their web pages at < http://www.jewishgen.org/jri-pl/bizdir/start.htm >,

The directory is organized by province, then by town, and then by occupation within each town. The
occupations are listed alphabetically in Polish (except for the first few officials and medical/legal
professions), with French translation following. I have added the English translation of each occupation.
Street names or street addresses follow some names.

Opatéw. District Town, justice court of peace, district court of Radom. Population 8,827. Train 17 km. away at
Ostrowiec, on the Skarzysko-Tarnobrzeg line.

Starosta (Staroste) [County officer]: Stanistaw Kaucki.

Burmistrz i Prez. Rady Miejs. (Maire et Prés du Conseil Municip.) [Mayor and President of the City Council]:
Ignacy Borkowski.

Szpital Sw. Leona. Kierownik (Hopital St. Leon Directuer) [Hospital St. Leon, Director]: Dr. Bohdan Glinski.

Rzezni miej. Dyrektor (Abattoir municipal Directeur). [Municipal Slaughterhouse Director]: Jé6zef Ostaszewski.

Straz ogniowa ocbotn. Komendant (Corps des pompiers volont): [Volunteer Fire Corps]: Dr. Bohdan Gliniski.

Lekarze (médecins) [Doctors]: Glinska Hel. dr. (wewn) - Glifiska Boh. J. dr., - Rabinowicz Iz. dr. (wewn) - Zielonka
Mich. dr. (plucne) - Duchateau Hen. dr.

Lekarze dentysci (médecins dentistes) [Dentists]: Rabinowicz-Blumina Marja - Starec Weintraub Chaj.

Lekarze weterijnarji (médecins vétérinares) [Veterinarians)]: Ostaszewski J6z., Sienkiewicza 27.

Adwokaci (avocats) [Lawyers]: Kulak St. (obr. sad.), Sienkiewicza.

Notarjusze (notaries) [Notaries]: Dobrowolski Fr.

Komornicy (huissiers) {Bailiffs]: Kozinski L.

Wiasciele ziemscy (propriétaires fonciers) [Property owners)]: Rogozinskiego Jana Sukc. (52).

Agentury (commissionnaires en marchandises) [Agencies): Friede M. - Wajsblum J. i M.

Akuszerki (sages-femmes) (Midwives]: Blazejewicz J. - Meczyriska M. - Szwajda S. - Wrdéblewska H.

Apteczne skiady (drogueries) [Drug dealers]: Sylberman D. - Siwierski A.

Apteki (pharmacies) [Pharmacies): Swiestowski E.

Banki (banques) [Banks]: Bank Ziemianski. oddz. - Bank Ludowy, pl. Wilsona.

Bielizna - fabryki (fabr. de lingerie) [Linen fabric]: Gutman G. - Klajman N. - Klajman R. - Szafir Sz., Waska -
Sztayn I.

Blacharze (ferblantiers) [Tinsmiths}: Cukierman M. - Hermolin H., Wilsona - Krélikowski M., Rynek.

Blawaty (tissus) [Fabrics]: Boronsztajn L. - Dombski J., Wilsona - Frydman Ch. - Frydman J. - Goldwasser H. -
Maniszewicz D. - Nisenbaum J.J. - Rozenperl R., Szeroka - Szafran A., Wazka - Wajnberg Ch., Wilsona 21 -
Wajnberg N., Wilsona - Wnuk Fr.

Browary (brasseries) [Brewery]: Saski St i J., Siennieriska.

Budulec (bois de charpente) [Building Materials]: Ajzenman D. - Szrajbman Sz., Wilsona 3 - Ungierman,
Pinczowski i Szulman, Kilinskiego.

Cementowe wyroby - for. (fabr. de produits en ciment) [Cement goods factory]: Rzepka J.

Chemiczne produkty - fabr. (fabr. de produits chimiques) [Chemincal manufacturers): “Kantorja”, Sp. Ake.

Chustki (chdles et fichus) [Cloths]: Engiel J.B., Wilsona 26 - Lerman J., Wilsona 2.
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Cukiernie (confiseurs) [Confectioners]: Kulniewowa S., Wilsona 35.

Czapki (casquettes) [Capmakers]: Malicki F. - Wajngust L., Ogrodowa - Wajngust J., Waska - Wajngust S., Wilsona
- Watman Z.

Drozdze (levures) [Yeast factory]: Mandel Sz.

Drukarnie (imprimeries) [Printing]: Micklekiewicz - Slupowski A. i Ska, Wilsona 2.

Drzewo (bois) [Wood]: Kenigsberg Sz. - Lebensztajn B.

Elektrotechniczne art, (appareillage electrique) [Electro-technical items): Zajfman B., pl. Wilsona.

Elektrownie (usines d’électricite) [Electric factory]: Elektrownia Opatowska, wl. Strohmajer.

Farby (couleurs) [Dyes]: Orensztajn B., Szeroka - Pejsachowicz N. M. - Wajsman B., Waska 55.

Felczerzy (barbiers-chirurgiens) [Barber-surgeons]: Blazejewicz J. - Gérski J. - Struzer A. - Szucht 1.

Fotograficzne zaklady (photographes) [Photography studio]: Goldman Sz., Wilsona - Jachniewicz H.

Fryzjerzy (coiffeurs) [Hairdressers]: Bajnerman J., Koscielna 1 - Goldsztajn Sz., Koécxelna 5 - Orlik P., Koscielna -
Saubel E., Wilsona 14 - Szucht A., Wilsona 20

Galanterja (mercerzes) [Dry goods]: Bochenska W., Wilsona - Bulwa F. - Don K., Wilsona - Rabinowicz Sz. -
Roznar A., Wilsona - Szmukler J., Wilsona - Wajman Z.,Rynek 30 - Worcman Z. - Wnuk E., Wilsona.

Gazety (journaux) [Newspaper]: “Glos Opatowski”.

Geometrzy (géométres) [Surveyors]: Badowski P.

Gilzy do papieroséw - fabryki (fabr. de tubes a cigarettes) [Cigarette holder factory]: Rolnicki Maj.

Graficzne zakfady (imprimeries) [Graphics)]: “Drukarnia Polska”, Wilsona 10 - “Przyszlos¢”, Wilsona 2.

Hotele (hétels) [Hotels]: “Hotel Kupiecki”, wi. Erlichman G., Pilsudskiego.

Introligatornie (relieurs) [Bookbinders]: Goldwasser L. i Tajser M.

Jaja (oeufs) [Eggs]: Band M., Iwariska.

Kamasznicy (tiges p. chaussures) [Shoe pegs]: Bak B., Cmentarna - Brendzel Z., Szeroka - Frymerman Sz.,
Koscielna.

Kapelusze damskie (modes) [Fashion studios]: Kohan R., pl. Wilsona - Wnuk E., Wilsona.

Kasy posyczk-oszczodn (caisses d'empr. et d’épargne) [Savings Bank]: Spoldz. Towarz. Pozyczk.-Oszczedn. z n. o.

Kaszarnie (fabr. de gruaux) [Groats]: Laks E.N., Loselewicza - Orman Sz.

Kinematografy (cinémas) [Cinemas]: Straz Ogniowa.

Kiszki zwierzece (boyaudiers) [Animal intestines]: Tenenbaum G., Waska.

Kolonjalne art. (épeciers) [Groceries]: Berencwajg Sz. - Sroka - Wajcblum.

Konfekcja damska (confections pour dames) [Ladies ready-made garments]: Cukier J., Rynek.

Kooperatywy (coopératives) [Cooperatives]: “Oszczednosé”, Sp. z 0. 0., Szeroka 46 - Spéldzielnia Urzednicza, Sp. z
0. 0., Wilsona 28 - Stow. Sp6z., Sp. z 0. 0., Wilsona.

Kowale (forgerons) [Blacksmiths]: Ferens M. - Kwapinski J. - Szymczyk J. - Wajsdorf H., Iwarska.

Krawcy (tailleurs) [Tailors]: Apelbaum I, Wilsona - Blumen H., Wilsona - Borensztajn M., Ogrodowa - Damski J.,
Koscielna - Feldman J., Wilsona - Feldman L., Niecata - Fryfler J., Wilsona - Garbarz A. - Gielman P.,
Koscielna - Grojsman P., Iwanska - Grynberg H., Rynek - Gutman L., St. Watowa - Herszkowicz J.,
Sienkiewicza - Herszkowicz L., Waska - Hymelfarb 1., Wilsona - Kaplariski A., Waska - Kaplaniski M., Waska -
Kasztan I., Sienkiewicza - Kaufman 1., Koscielna - Langier D., Szeroka - Lustgarten M., Waska - Pizel J.,
Wilsona - Rosz M., Nowo-Watowa - Sobol J., Wilsona - Szerka J., Szeroka - Sznajder M. - Szrajbman J.,
Waska - Szwarcman Sz., Koscielna - Waksman J., Wilsona - Warszawski Z., Wilsona - Zalcman P., Niecata -
Zylborsztajn Sz., Szeroka.

Ksiggarnie (librairies) [Book stores]: Frydman M. - Korman Sz. - Sklep Mlodziezy Szkolnej - Zawadzka J. - Glat
A., Wilsona.

Kuchenne naczynia (articles de cuisine) [Kitchenware]: Kandel 1., Waska 22 - Lubliner E., Waska 10 - Rotsztajn L.
Ogrodowa.

Kusnierze (pelletiers) [Furriers]: Malzinor K. - Rumianek M. - Trojster M., Waska - Waysblum M

Magle (calandres) [Mangles] Adamska M.

Malarze (peintres) [Painters]: Lipman J., Wilsona 14 - Woszczycki W.

Maka (farines) [Flour]: Wajnberg 1., quka - Hofert L. - Lerner N.

Mechaniczne warsztaty (méchaniciens) [Mechanical workshops): Gebalski J., Kilinskiego - Piédowski W.

Mileczarskie zakl. (laiteriers) [Dairies]: Mleczarnia Opatowska, S.A., Sienkiewicza 38.

Mlyny (moulins) [Mills]: Babicki M., Waworkowska - Goldman A., (mot) - Goldman Ch. (mot) - Goldman Bcia i
Rozenberg 1. (mot),

Mpydio - fabryki (fabr. de savons) [Soap manufacture]: “Kantorja”, wi. Mandelbaum L., Sp. Akc.

Nabial (crémiers) [Dairymen]: Gielman H., Koécielna 8 - Wajnberg L.

Nierogacizna - handel (marchands de porcs) [Cattle trade]: Weglewicz M., Iwanska.

Obuwie (chaussures) [Shoes]: Grynsztajn D. - Kocznur M., Rynek - Rozenblum B., Wilsona - Rozner G., Wilsona
22 - Stgpniewski W., Sienkiewicza.
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Piekarnie (boulangers) [Bakers]: Cukier A. - Cukier J. - Ekierman B., Iwariska - Goldblum A., Szeroka - Higier F. i.
Klichtentrajn G. - Katechman S., Szeroka - Kuperblum A. - Kwatkowski E. - Leszcz M., Szeroka - Lichtenbaum
J., Wilsona - Lipowicz H. - Marmurek H. - Melman M. - Rajzglik Sz., Wilsona - Recht A., Koscielna -
Wajnberg J. - Wajnberg L. - Wajnerman A. - Wajsberg Ch. - Wakswaser J.

Pierze (plumes et duvets) [Feathers and Down]: Glazman Sz., St. Watowa.

Pismienne materjaly (fournitures de bureaux) [Writing materials]: Frydman M. M.

Piwiarnie (brasseries-débif) [Retail breweries]: Ajzenman S. - Blumenfeld - Kudas Pawlicki L., Sienkiewicza -
Rozencwajg J. - Rozenfeld K., Koscielna - Szrajbman P. - Szterenlicht A., Pilsudskiego - Warcman Ch.,
Szeroka - Zajfman L.

Powro znicy (cordiers) [Ropemakers]: Blumensztok B., Wilsona 26.

Prdsh i thumaczer biura (pétitions et traductions) [Petition and Transation Office]: Lipman J., Wilsona 14 - Saubel
M., Wilsona 26 - Wajcblum I., Wilsona 12.

Restauracje (restaurants) [Restaurants): Domagain W. - Galinski S., Wilsona - Kuniew S., Rynek - Opalka J.,
Wilsona 28 - Rozenfeld M. - Siasata J. - Tolpygi S.M., Wilsona 18 - Zajfman M., Wilsona.

Rolnicze narzedzia (instruments agricoles) [Agricultural implements]: Opatowsko-Sandom. Rolna Sp. Ake., oddz,,
Sienkiewicza 22 - “Rolnik”, Sp. z 0. o.

Rézne towary (art. divers) [Mixed goods]: Kac Ch., Szeroka 8 - Kac J., Szeroka 27 - Klajmic A., Iwariska -
Wajnberg M., Pilsudskiego.

Rymarze (bourreliers) [Leather cutters]: Matuszewski F. - Trojster Sz., Pilsudskiego - Wajsblum R., Niecata.

Samochodowe - przedsieb (taxi-automobiles) [Motor Cars): Lopatka J., Lagowska.

Skory (cuirs) [Leather]: Frymer M., Waska - Kierszenblat A. - Najman Sz., Szeroka - Rabinowicz F., Waska 29 -
Rabinowicz J., Szeroka - Rabinowicz L., Waska 22 - Wajselman J. - Zylberberg L., Koscielna - Zysman M.,
Szeroka 18.

Skory baranie (peaux de moutins) [Sheep leather]: Wajsblum M.

Spirutualja (spiritueux) [Liquor]: Romasski K. - Sroka L. - Zajfman J., Wilsona - Zylberberg L. - Zyngier J.

SpoZywcze artykuly (comestibles) [Food articles]: Bromberg N., Ogrodowa 3 - Kac J., Szewska - Lilienbaum Sz. -
Niewoijt St., Sienkiewicza - Poradowski M., Sandomierska - Wajnberg D. - Wajsblum M., Szeroka.

Stolarze (menuisiers) [Carpenters]: Grynberg Sz., Waska - Korenblit B., Koscielna - Milgram J., Szewska - Milgram
M., Watowa - Zylbersztajn A.

Szczotkarze (brassiers) [Brush makers]: Baserman B., Iwanska - Blumfeld M., St. Walowa - Borensztajn Ar.,
Iwanska - Czernikowski B., Sienkiewicza - Feldman J., Szeroka - Goldwasser P., Wilsona - Grosbojm Z. -
Grynsztajn Sz., Szeroka - Gutmacher S., Szeroka - Klajnman Ch., Iwanska - Luksemburg 1., Zatylna -
Perelmuter Cz., Szeroka - Rozenberg J., Iwasiska - Szerman H. - Tajtelbaum F., Iwanska -Tajtelbaum M., Waska
- Tajtelbaum P., Szeroka - Wajc A., Czernikowka

Szewcy (cordonniers) [Shoemakers]: Ajzenman A., Szeroka - Chodniewicz W., Koscielna - Frydman A. - Grynsztajn
J., Waska - Hejnochowicz M., Czernikowska - Herszkowicz M. - Hofman O., Iwanska - Klajman 1., Waska -
Kocznur M., Wilsona - Mondor Sz., Koscielna - Skrok A., Rynek - Szolsztyk A., Waska - Wajngust F., Waska -
Wajnsztok N., Szeroka.

Slusarze (serruriers) [Locksmiths]: Kandel Bcia i Szajnfeld A., Wilsona - Wajsblum Sz., Joselewicza.

Swiece - fabryki (fabr. de bougies) [Candle Manufacture]: “Kantorja”, S.A.

Technicy dentystzni (mécaniciex dentistes) [Dental mechanics] Starec J., Zwierzdowskiego.

Tytoniowe wyr. (tabacs) [Tobacco goods]: Ciesielski J. - Mandelzys R. - Pigtkiewicz P., Rynek 23 - Wajs Ch. -
Wajman E., Wilsona.

Ubrania gotowe (vitements confectionnés) [Ready-made suits]: Kaplanski J., Rynek 26.

Wedliny (charcutiers) [Pork butchers]: Bochynski J., Wilsona 18 - Koszarski Cz., Wilsona S - Rézalski S., Wilsona
25 - Winiarski W. - Zalewski K., Sienkiewicza 5.

Wody gazowe - fabryki (fabr. d’eaux gazeuses) [Seltzer factories]: Zajfman A.

Wédki i likiery - fabr. (fabr. d’eaux-de-vie et liqueurs) [Liquor Manufacture]: Wajsblum M., Iwariska.

Zbo Ze (grains) [Grains]: Goldbach A. - Gotlib K. - Hofman H., Kilinskiego 18 - Langier H., Sienkiewicza 6 -
Morelenbaum Ch., Lagowska 16 - Orensztajn J.M. - Zajfman P.

Zegarmistrze (horlogers) [Clock and watchmakers]: Bulwa F., Wilsona 22 - Margules J., Koscielna 3 - Zylberblech
Z., Wilsona 16.

Zlotnicy (bijoutiers) [Goldsmiths]: Lustman Ch., Wilsona - Lustman Z., Wilsona.

Zelazo (fers) [Iron]: Czernikowski D., Iwanska 4 - Kandel B-cia i Szajnwald A. - Lubliner Ch., Czernikowska -
Rudman T., Wilsona 32 - Szterenlicht I. - Waysblum Sz.
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Painted Memories:
A Jewish Childhood in Poland Before the Holocaust

Mayer Kirshenblatt, Barbara Kirshenblatt-Gimblett

Lest future generations know more about how Jews died than how they lived, Mayer Kirshenblatt has
made it his mission to remember the world of his childhood in living color. In paintings and words, he
captures Jewish life in a small Polish city before the Holocaust as seen through the eyes of an inquisitive boy.
Mayer was born in 1916 in Opatéw (Apt in Yiddish), where he completed seven grades of school. He left for
Canada in 1934. At the age of 74, he taught himself to paint what he remembered of his childhood and has
since exhibited his work in solo exhibitions at the Koffler Gallery, John B. Aird Gallery, and Bloor JCC, as
well as in several group shows. His daughter Barbara Kirshenblatt-Gimblett has been interviewing him since
1967. Their forthcoming book is the result of an unusual collaboration of father and daughter over more
than thirty years.

At once encyclopedic and uncensored, Painted Memories roams the streets and courtyards of Apt, capturing
the details of daily life and the personalities of those who lived and worked there. The book begins with a
walk through the town, from the ancient city gate to the town square and along the river. Mayer then takes
the reader from the Jewish Street, as the Jewish part of town was known, to the country seat and the market
place. The second section of the book focuses on Mayer's family—his mother's family in Apt, his father's
Jfamily in Iiza (Drildzh in Yidddish), and his own family. The third section of the book is about school, play,
youth movements, and early work experiences. The final section deals with his departure from Poland and
his reflections on the process of creating this book. The book concludes with "A daughter's afterword.”

Painted Memories will be published in 2002. Contact: Barbara Kirshenblatt-Gimblett. Email: bkg@nyu.edu

or fax: 212-254-7885.

Apt may not have been a major moment on
the Polish map but it was an important town on the
Jewish map. Apt was known as a rabbinic town.
Although Apt was like many other towns in
Poland, each one had its own personality and its
own reputation. The nickname for people from
Apt was Apter flyakes. Flyakes is from the Polish
word for tripe, which is flaczki. Flyak in Yiddish
refers to a bad-mouth. Apters were known as
gossips, though I doubt that Apt was any worse
than other places. A relative from a small town
near L4dZ who married my mother's first cousin
told me that when beggars knocked on doors in his
town, people said they were probably from Apt.
This was just friendly rivalry between towns.

There were five approaches to the town: from
Sandomierz to the east, Iwaniska to the south,
Lagow to the west, Ozardéw to the northeast, and
Ostrowiec to the north. Three of those approaches
crossed the Opatowka River, which ran along
three sides of the town. The river flowed from the
west.

Sandomierz (Tsozmir, in Yiddish) was an
ancient town on the Vistula River. It was famous

for its cathedral, where there is, to this day, an
eighteenth-century painting showing Jews
murdering two Christian infants.  Iwaniska
(Ivansk, in Yiddish) was a much smaller town
than Apt. They used to joke that when the
Ivankser maydn (young women of Ivansk) were
sent out at night to close the wooden shutters, they
did not return until the morning. The people from
Ivansk were also called Ivansker meysim (Ivansker
corpses). No one knows why. One of my
mother's sisters married a man from Planta, a
village outside of Ivansk. He worked for a
sawmill there. He estimated how much lumber
could be cut from a stand of trees. Lagéw (Lagev,
in Yiddish), a very small town, also depended on
the lumber industry — I passed through Lagev only
once, when I departed for Canada. People from
Lagev were called Lagever ferd-ganovim, Lagever
horse-thieves. In actuality, they were horse
traders. Ozaréw (Ozherev, in Yiddish) was also a
small town. I passed through there when I went to
a camp for training Zionist leaders in Ruda
Opalin, not far from Chetm. People from Ozherev
were nicknamed Ozherover kozes, the Ozherover
goats.
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Bridges along Lagover veyg and Ozherover
veyg crossed the Opatéwka River. The third
bridge, the only toll bridge, ran along Ostrovtser
veyg, the road that lead from Ostrowiec
(Ostrovste, in Yiddish) to Apt. Mr. Goldsheker
collected the tolls at this bridge as part of his
government concession for building roads.
Ostrovtse was a larger city, on the Kamienna
River, some twelve kilometers north of Apt. It
had a big steel foundry and railroad, which made
it the shipping hub of the region. The busiest
entrance to Apt was along this road, across the toll
bridge, and through Ostroviser brama (Ostrowiec
gate). This gate 1s pretty much all that remains of
the ancient town walls. A picture of the Black
Madonna and Child, the Matka Boska
Czestochowska, appears at the top of the old
portal. In about 1933, just before I left Apt for
Canada, the city prohibited buses and trucks from
entering the city through the ancient gate for fear
they would damage this treasured edifice. Traffic,
except for horse-drawn wagons, was diverted to
the western entrance to the town and had to enter
from Lagover veyg.

We lived on Koscielna gas (Church Street),
which crossed the road leading to the ancient city
gate. An organ grinder used to perform at the
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intersection. He had a parrot and a basket of
fortunes. For ten groshn, or pennies, he would
bring a little basket close to the parrot and the
parrot would obediently pick out a fortune for you.
There wasn't much money around so he performed
near our place, around the marketplace, and in the
courtyards of Mandlboym, the richest man in
town, and Buchinski, who owned a restaurant on
the town square. The organ grinder was a big hit.

Mandlboym's beautiful house was the biggest
residential building in Apt. It was next to the
county seat and faced the fenced park at the
eastern end of the main square. Mandelboym also
had a home 1n Warsaw. A man who advertised
himself as the human fly would climb the corner
of Mandlboym's building. Large corner stones
projected from the masonry and provided the
human fly with hand and foot holds. Once he got
to the top, he fastened a pole to the roof,
somehow, so that 1t projected into the street and
did some acrobatic tricks from that pole. Then he
climbed back down the corner of the building.

Street performers, including fiddle players,
singers, and cellists, used to play in the courtyards.
I saw them perform in Mandlboym's courtyard.
There were many tenants and this being one of the
better buildings in town the performers expected
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to collect more money. People living in the
apartments overlooking the courtyard opened their
windows and leaned out. They watched the
performers, wrapped a few coins in a bit of cloth,
and threw them down to the performers. I was
always eager to help out by collecting the money
that fell to the ground. Naturally there was always
a lot of action there.

Mandlboym made his money from his two
factories on the edge of town. His big soap
factory was famous throughout Poland for its
Elephant Soap, a big bar of laundry soap, mydib ze
sloriiem, whose trademark was the elephant. It
was a long bar, about 1.5 inches thick, 12 inches
long, and 4 inches wide. An image of an elephant,
and the brand name, were impressed on each of its
four sections. The factory also made other kinds
of soap, as well as candles. ‘It employed a total of
about twenty-five people. The soap factory was
located on Lagover veyg, on the edge of town,
along the Opatéwka River. It was kitty-corner
from Rosenberg's powermill.

Mandlboym's also owned an oil mill, or
olejarnia, in Polish, which extracted oil from
various kinds of seeds. It was located on Ulica
Kilinska. This factory only operated in the fall,
after the harvest. Mainly they extracted oil from
rapeseed (rzepac, in Polish) and sunflower seeds.
After the oil had been extracted, the solid residue
would come out in round cakes about twelve-
inches in diameter and two or three inches thick.
Farmers fed those cakes to their livestock. This
gave their coats, especially the horses, a healthy
shine.

The Mandlboyms were completely
assimilated. I don't remember them ever coming
to synagogue. If they did, it would have been
once a year for Kol Nidre. This prayer is recited
on the eve of Yom Kippur, the Day of Atonement
and holiest day of the year. They were neither the
first nor the only assimilated Jews in town. A
story is told in the Apter memorial book about a
rich man in Apt who abandoned most of his
religion. One day the famous rabbis in the city
called all the Jewish barbers together and made
them swear a solemn oath not to shave the beards
of any Jews. This being the case, a rich Jewish
citizen asked a gentile barber to shave off his
beard and side-locks. The rabbi often berated this
man, warning him of what might befall him for
this transgression. The man went around clean-
shaven in a top hat and fashionable clothes rather
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than the traditional Jewish cap and long coat. He
only attended the synagogue once a year, for Kol
Nidre. One day he got sick. He was bedridden for
such a long time that his beard grew back. He
finally passed away. When the rabbi learned of
his death, he decreed that before the body could be
interred, the beard had to come off. This man had
to appear in front of the Lord looking just the way
he did when he was alive ~ without a beard. The
rabbi ordered the body brought to the synagogue
courtyard and the man's face lathered and shaved.
So it was done. They shaved the corpse. This
incident took place before my time. I read about
it in the memorial book for my town.

As the town receded from the main square, the
wooden houses on the back streets became poorer
and poorer. On the east side of town was the
yordn (Jordan), a slum of attached row houses,
leaning and dilapidated. This area was called the
Jordan because, before it was paved, it was always
wet and muddy, like the River Jordan in the Holy
Land. Not far from the yordn was the hekdesh.
Just to the east of the town was the Jewish
cemetery. The western end of the Wide Street was
called the klezmurim-ges! (Musicians' Street).
Two families of klezmurim lived on this street.
Other musicians lived elsewhere in town.

Just five or six hundred yards from the town
square and you were already in the countryside.
On the southern outskirts of the town was
Yarmye's hotel. It was on the road to Ivansk. The
property belonged to Yarmye Zayfman. Yarmye
is a Yiddish version of Yarmeyahu, the Hebrew
name of the Biblical prophet Jeremiah. This huge
building, which surrounded a courtyard on three
sides, was a rabbit warren of tiny rooms on two
stories. It was so dilapidated it was more like a
shantytown. Hundreds of people lived there.
Poor people lived there permanently. This was
some "hotel". It was more like a zoo. People
there kept goats and chickens. If you had a goat,
you had a little bit of milk, from the chicken a few
eggs. During the day, the goats used to go around
foraging. Goats eat anything. But, to avoid their
animals being stolen at night, people bring the
animals into their rooms. The boards were dried
out and twisted and the wind and snow blew in
through the cracks between the boards. There
wasn't even newspaper or cardboard to seal the
cracks. How they survived the winter is beyond
me. Perhaps the animals helped keep them warm.



Autumn 2001

How did I get to go inside Yarmye's hotel?
When I was about fifteen years old, there was a
census. That would have been 1931 and I was in
my last year of school. Mr. Koziarski, the public
school teacher who taught me Polish poetry and
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the same. Some slept on the table, some under the
table. How the father ever found an opportunity
to make children is beyond me, though at the time
the thought never dawned on me. We spent two
days there.
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Yarmue's Hotel (Slum), 1934 Acrylic on canvas, 24" x 36". Toronto, 1990s

literature, was one of several people in the town
who went around to collect census information.
Because I was such an avid reader and my Polish
was flawless, he picked me to accompany him to
translate from Yiddish to Polish. Imagine, Jews
had been living in the town for hundreds of years
and still there were people who could not speak
Polish. Some of them had a limited vocabulary,
maybe a hundred words, just enough to deal with
the Polish farmer when he came to buy something.
The majority of the town citizens were Jewish and
they could live out their life in the Jewish milieu
without needing to learn Polish. Some never left
town.

We started out at eight o'clock in the morning.
A lot of people were still asleep.  The
overcrowding is unimaginable. They lived eight
to ten people in a room. There was a tiny cast iron
stove with two burners for cooking and a few
beds. The mother slept with two children at the
foot of her bed and two along side her. The father

The non-Jews did not have their own
neighborhood. They were scattered through the
town. The better off ones rented brick houses.
Non-Jews also lived on the outskirts of the town,
where they had more land. Where Ozherover veyg
intersected with the Opatéwka River, you could
see old-fashioned houses, with thatched roofs.
Polish people lived there in one or two rooms.
Being on the edge of town, these houses had a
little land around them, a garden, a few chickens,
and maybe a goat. They had an outhouse In
summer, the gardens were full of flowers and
vegetables. The farmer, who lived in the
countryside or in a nearby village, was better off
than many of the Poles in town because he also
had his own well and a couple of cows. Not only
could he feed himself, but also he could sell the
milk, as well as the butter and cheese he made

from the milk. Nonetheless, things were very
difficult.
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Restoring the Cemetery of Ozaréw — Part I

by Dr. Norman L. Weinberg, Executive Coordinator OCRP

It has long been a dream of many Ozarowers
and their descendants to restore the ruined
cemetery of Ozaréw. The Ozaréw cemetery dates
back almost 400 years. It is one of the few
remaining Jewish cemeteries in Poland, with its
approximately three hundred matzevos
[tombstones], standing in solemn testimony to the
thriving Jewish community that once was. The
remarkable beauty of its detailed carvings attracts
many visitors each year to Ozaréw. [See
tombstone transcripts and photos in the Kielce-
Radom SIG Journal, 11:4 (Autumn 1998), pages
22-26]. The cemetery wall was almost totally
destroyed during World War II and many of the
stones were taken for fortifications by the
Germans to a place about 15 km away.

Why would anyone want to restore such a
cemetery in a small remote town in which Jews no
longer live? After all, there are relatively few
Ozarowers still living, and for their descendants,
only stories remain of the terrible poverty, anti-
semitism and the Holocaust. For many of us
Ozarowers and their descendants, the answer is
that Ozar6w is our ancestral home. Our relatives
are buried there, and to some unknown extent, we
feel we are what we are because of them. For
others of us, we have the duties, repeated often in
the Torah, to remember and to teach our children.

There is a reason the cemetery was not
totally destroyed after the War. An elderly Pole in
Ozaréw recently related the following story to our
Polish Ozaréw Cemetery Restoration Project
Coordinator, Mr. Stefan Andrzej Omasta. Moishe
(Epstein?), returning to Ozaréw from the Soviet
Union right after the War in 1945, found no
relatives, no Jews, and the ruined cemetery with a
mass grave of Ozarowers and others murdered by
the Germans during the occupation. Before an
assembly of curious townsfolk (they had not seen
a Jew since October 1942) and the local priest,
Moishe uttered a curse that if anyone dared to
further defile the cemetery, he would suffer the
same fate as the Germans.

How do you go about restoring such a
cemetery? Through the dedication and hard work
of Ozarowers and non-Ozarowers, both Jews and
Christians, from many countries including Poland,
coming together with this common purpose.
Largely through the efforts of Rabbi Tanchum
Becker, the current Ozarower Rebbe, and others in
Israel, the USA and Canada, we had already
raised some funds over several years. But this
was not nearly enough to pay for cleaning up the
cemetery from years of neglect and garbage,
rebuilding the cemetery walls and the ohel,
righting fallen stones on secure bases, erecting a
commemorative stone and multilingual descriptive
plaque, and providing for future upkeep.

In May, we formed the Ozar6w Cemetery
Restoration Project (OCRP). A close friend and
colleague, Dr. Marek Lipsztajn, a scientist with
absolutely no previous experience in cemetery
restoration, has been one of the key persons
guiding this project. Dr. Lipsztajn is fluent in
Polish and has many contacts in Warsaw,
including the Jewish Historical Institute (JHI) and
our valuable resource and advisor there, Dr.
Eleanora Bergman. Dr. Lipsztajn was born in
Poland after WWII and lived and studied in
Warsaw. He and his wife, Bozenna, and their
three daughters emigrated from Poland in 1982
and now live in Toronto. Bozenna designed and
built the Ozaréw cemetery website
<http://www.ozarow.org>.

A friend of Dr. Lipsztajn’s, Mr. Stefan
Andrzej Omasta of Warsaw, an accomplished
silversmith, also without any prior experience in
cemetery restoration, became our key contact in
Poland. Mr. Omasta has been inexhaustible in
pursuing architects, builders, government
agencies, negotiating prices and fees, meeting
with the local Jewish community, the JHI, local
and foreign rabbis, as well as Ozaréw’s mayor
Mr. Marcin Majcher, the local priest Father
Stanislaw Szczerek, and other town officials. Our
belief has been verified that it was necessary to
involve the mayor, priest and other town officials
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from the earliest point on. This has been vital to
the success of the OCRP. They are all firmly
committed to seeing the project through to
completion of Phase I by early October 2001, in
time for the OCRP-sponsored eight day Tour of
Historic Jewish Sites in Poland and Ozaréw
Cemetery Dedication Ceremony. I will report on
the tour and dedication in Part II.

The OCRP team of Coordinators would not
be complete without mentioning Mr. Mark
Milgrom, an American businessman, who has
been of considerable assistance with the
promotional, legal and procedural aspects, as well
as a generous donor to the OCRP.

To get the message out that the OCRP was
actively underway, we gathered together many
names of Ozarowers and their descendants,
formed an e-mail listing and sent newsletters,
detailing progress and describing the tour. In
addition, because many Ozarowers emigrated to
Toronto and Hamilton, Canada in the early 1900s,
Zelda Young of Shalom Jewish Radio, Toronto,
carried an interview with me in July about the
project. Since May 2001, generous donors have
added to the OCRP Fund so that the project is
now sufficiently funded for Phase I.

We arranged that at least a portion of the
project funds go through The US Commission for
the Preservation of America’s Heritage Abroad.
This is a US Government agency, with tax exempt
status, which provides excellent advice and
assistance on such projects. The US Commission
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in turn sends the funds to the JHI in Warsaw
which then pays the invoices of the
contractors/artisans selected for the project
execution phase. An agreement signed between
the OCRP and the JHI in early July of this year
stipulates that the latter is the legal entity in
Poland, representing the OCRP in all negotiations
and activities related to the Ozaréw cemetery
restoration project. Thus the OCRP in its dealings
in Poland has both the credibility and the support
of the US Government and the Jewish Historical
Institute behind it, both ready to help should we
run into any political, logistical, legal or other
problems. In addition, the OCRP acts in close
cooperation with the Jewish Community in
Poland, in particular with the Chief Rabbi of
Warsaw and Lodz, Michael Schudrich.

Sohow do you restore a cemetery in Poland?
Put together a dedicated team, make all the
appropriate connections with the town, the Jewish
community in Poland, the JHI and the US
Commission, get a mailing list together (the
JewishGen Family Finder is a start!) and start a
promotional campaign to raise the necessary
funds.

] would be pleased to offer advice to others
interested in restoring what is left of our heritage
in Poland. Send me an e-mail:
<nweinberg@adelphia.net>.

Norman L. Weinberg, Executive Coordinator
OCRP, 5 Chasewood Lane, East Amherst, NY
14051

we will report on its progress at a later date.

Roots in Ozarow?

From October 14-21, 2001, a special tour of Jewish sites in Poland will take place, highlighted by a
dedication on October 15 of the newly restored Ozaréw Jewish Cemetery. It is a culmination of a
chain of events that probably started with Dr. Norman Weinberg's article in 